FROM INCARCERATION TO PRODUCTIVE LIFESTYLE

Bringing Family Literacy to Incarcerated Settings: An Instructional Guide



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many individuals and agencies contributed to the production of this document. First and foremost, leaders in the field of education in correctional facilities are to be commended. We would specifically like to thank Katherine Byrnes, Audrey Harnden, Jo Anne Koren, Signe Nelson, Margaret Scripa, and Arleen Zucker for participating in an intensive writing session in Saratoga Springs, NY. Additionally, Katherine Byrnes provided her expertise on funding.

Of the Hudson River Center for Program Development, Inc., Kay S. Peavey, with the assistance of consultant Marci Manberg, pulled the entire document together. Barbara Smith, Ed.D. and Sarah Hughes contributed original writing and guidance to the project. Scott Jill confirmed the accuracy of technical information. Colleen Dowd managed the printing process, while Gwen Bondi provided vital support services. Janet Atkins of Hinterland Design formatted the whole document.

Deborah Kantor applied her photographic talents to capturing the "faces" of the program. Special thanks are extended to the inmates and caregivers for permission to use their and their children's photographs. Both Audrey Harnden and Margaret Scripa graciously invited us to visit their programs to take photos.

We would be remiss in overlooking the significant contributions of the Center for Family Resources, which laid the groundwork for this document. Through his vision of and dedication to educational programming for incarcerated individuals, John London of the New York State Education Department (NYSED) facilitated the development of this document. Susan Henry, NYSED's Even Start Statewide Coordinator, provided valuable feedback. Finally, Barbara Shay, team leader of NYSED's Adult, Family, and Alternative Education, provided leadership to this and other important efforts to raise standards for all students.

Last, but by no means least, practitioners "in the trenches" of county correctional facilities are applauded for their dedication to providing educational opportunity to an often overlooked population



Hudson River Center for Program Development, Inc. 121 Mosher Road • Glenmont, NY 12077-4202 ph: 518/432-4005 • fx: 518/427-9718 • http://www.hudrivctr.org

CONTENTS

n 1	
Foreword	4
Introduction	6
What is Family Literacy?	7
Family Literacy in Incarcerated Settings: V	•
Implementation of Family Literacy	12
Range of Program Designs	15
Academic Preparation (including Parent Empo	werment) 17
Parent/Child Interaction	20
Caregiver Connection	21
Community Linkage	22
Blueprint for Implementation	24
Raising Standards	27
Funding	34
Marketing	38
Staff Development	41
Conclusion	45
NYS Incarcerated Education Programs with	
Family Literacy	Appendix A
Resources	Appendix B
Staff Development Consortia	Appendix C
Sample Forms	Appendix D
Learning Standards	Appendix E
Acronyms Glossary	Appendix F

Disclaimer: The electronic version of *Bringing Family Literacy to Incarcerated Settings: An Instructional Guide* contains no photographs. As a result, the formatting is slightly different than the published hardcopy.

Foreword

In its ongoing efforts to support the education of incarcerated youth and adults, the New York State Education Department (NYSED) is pleased to present its latest document in the From Incarceration to Productive Lifestyle series. Bringing Family Literacy to Incarcerated Settings: An Instructional Guide shares the valuable experiences of numerous individuals and agencies who have successfully incorporated family literacy into incarcerated education programming.

For many years, NYSED has advocated its Instructional Delivery System Model as a means to increase the economic self-sufficiency of youth and adults after release from incarceration and to reduce or eliminate altogether the likelihood of repeat criminal behavior and recidivism. As depicted below, this model consists of an academic component, a transition component, and an equally important continuum of support services.

Instructional Delivery System Model			
Academic Program Components	Transition program Components	Continuum of Support Services	
Basic Skills (ABE)	Computerized	Employment Continuing Edcuation	
High School Equiva- lency Preparation	Career Assessment	Higher Education	
English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL)	Job Decision Readiness Making Skills Skills	Family Education/ Empowerment On-the Job Training/ Apprenticeship	
Tutorial in High School Subjects		Social, Health and Other Support Services	
Career, Family and Life Skills	Community Support Linkages	Peer Support Groups Family Literacy	

Family literacy is a promising approach to providing the comprehensive family education called for in the Instructional Delivery System Model. To that end, the efforts of several programs in New York State (NYS) have created a blueprint for integrating family literacy services into incarcerated programs.

One of the earliest program models was developed through the Albany City School District. The significant pieces of its model were the development of a life skills/parenting class and a structured time for incarcerated parents to be together with their children. The activities that occur

"If we believe that promoting healthy relationships between parent and child reduces risk to children, it make sense to pay attention to the parenting role of inmates. Indeed, most incarcerated parents will be released from jail and will parent in the community. So it seems wise to view prisoner parents as parents who can and do contribute to the optimal development of their children and to use their time in prison to promote healthy attachment."

Family and Corrections Network Report Issue 3 1994 during the family's time together have a literacy theme and are appropriate to the learning level of both parent and child.

Many other NYS incarcerated education programs have adapted this model to fit their programs, facility operations, and families. These projects¹ include:

- East Meadow Union Free School District/Nassau Correctional Facility
- Literacy Volunteers of America/Fulton County Correctional Facility
- Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Community School/Onondaga County Justice Center
- Onondaga-Cortland-Madison BOCES/Onondaga County Department of Corrections
- Southern Westchester BOCES/Spring Brook Academy
- Tompkins-Seneca-Tioga BOCES/Tompkins Public Safety Building.

Additionally, NYS was a recipient of a federal Even Start Family Literacy Women in Prison grant. This two-year grant funded a family literacy program at the Bedford Hills Correctional Facility. Although direct federal funding ended, the project has obtained alternative funding to continue. Two existing Even Start Family Literacy Partnerships, Sodus-Lyons Even Start and Yates-Ontario Even Start, expanded their projects to the incarcerated setting.

Each of these projects has contributed tremendously to the growth and development of family literacy within the field of incarcerated education. To incarcerated-education providers, family literacy is a means to provide services during times of dwindling resources. But to incarcerated parents, family literacy is more than improving their own education. It is also an opportunity to maintain their identities as parents, foster loving ties with their children, and actively participate in their education despite incarceration. The purpose of *Bringing Family Literacy to Incarcerated Settings: An Instructional Guide* is to assist all who are interested in implementing a successful family literacy project within an incarcerated setting.

¹ A brief description of each of these projects is provided in Appendix A.

Introduction

Diane Nembhard works as a prison guard at the Ithaca Correctional Facility for Women. Her husband is currently serving time at the Onondaga County Justice Center. The Nembhards have three daughters, ages 17, 8, and 3. They are a loving family made stronger by the lessons learned through a very unique program for incarcerated parents called PACT. PACT or Parent and Child Time is time for families to engage in interactive literacy activities. The following is Diane's story.

Ladybug

I sat quietly watching my husband and three-year-old daughter, Mercedes, at play. I knew better than to intrude. This was their special time together, and my experience (working with incarcerated families) told me that these precious moments shouldn't be taken for granted.

This became all too obvious when I looked around the room at the other families in the PACT program. A woman inmate, in particular, caught my attention. She was not much older than myself, and her daughter was about Mercedes' age. Our eyes met for an instant. I could see by the way she interacted with her child, just how much this visit meant to her. I kept thinking about the young women at the correctional facility, many of whom spend 16 hours a day behind bars. Some experience mood swings, others never see their parents. And the sad fact is that the majority of these young women have children of their own. As a person who sits on both sides of the prison fence, there's no doubt in my mind that there should be a PACT program in every correctional facility in our country.

As our visit neared conclusion, I listened to Mercedes ask her father questions about the book he was reading to her. This simple connection made me realize how important these visits had become. The speech problem Mercedes had developed when my husband was first incarcerated could hardly be detected. Seated on his lap, she was animated, excited, and happy to be at (what she called) her daddy's "house". For the first time, there was hope that the painful images of earlier prison visits, (when her father couldn't touch or hold her) were fading from her memory.

As the other inmates' families said their good-byes, Mercedes clung tightly to her Daddy, "Just one more story, Daddy" she whispered. "Ladybug wants to tell you one more story." And so she put the picture book down and made up her own story, about a little girl who sprouted wings and learned to fly – to fly anywhere, unafraid. "Daddy," she said, looking up at my husband who had tears in his eyes, "Ladybug's name used to be Mercedes, but now everybody calls her Ladybug."

That's how Mercedes became Ladybug, and we started to become a real family again.

Note: Mercedes still calls herself Ladybug. Her father was recently transferred to another facility, where there is no PACT program. Everyday Ladybug says "It's time to go to Daddy's house."

Mercedes is one of approximately 1.5 million children of incarcerated parents in the U.S.

"Remember how important and special your child is! Always show your child love."
Participant in family literacy program

In a very humanistic and touching way, the story of Ladybug reveals an aspect of incarceration not often considered. The impact of incarceration on families and children is very profound, very real. Ladybug's story reveals the vital role family plays in the success — social, educational, and emotional — of not only children, but their incarcerated parents as well.

What is Family Literacy?

Family literacy is the learned, not innate, intergenerational process of sharing that occurs between parents² and their children which supports and expands the range of learning in a family. This *process* of learning occurs in *all* families, although in different ways for each family and each family member. Family literacy programs strive to build upon this process.

Although a significant force for many years, family literacy programming only recently started to receive its deserved attention. Several major pieces of federal legislation acted upon by the 105th Congress recognized family literacy as a successful strategy for helping families achieve self-sufficiency. For the first time, a single, consistent, and comprehensive definition of family literacy services was used in federal law. As stated in the 1998 Workforce Investment Act, Improving America's Schools Act, Reading Excellence Act, and Head Start Act, family literacy means . . .

. . . services provided to participants on a voluntary basis that are of sufficient intensity in terms of hours, and of sufficient duration, to make sustainable changes in a family, and that integrate all of the following activities:

- a) interactive literacy activities between parents and their children
- training for parents regarding how to be the primary teacher for their children and full partners in the education of their children
- parent literacy training that leads to economic selfsufficiency
- an age-appropriate education to prepare children for success in school and life experiences.

"Thank you for showing me another way to spend my time with my children. I'm a young mother of 3. Some things I didn't know but this program showed me." Participant in family literacy program

² The definition of parent or parents includes, in addition to a biological or adoptive parent, a legal guardian or other person acting in place of a parent or legal guardian, and may include a person such as a grandparent, stepparent, aunt, uncle, older sibling, or other person either (1) with whom the child lives or (2) who has been designated by a parent, legal guardian, or court to act in place of the parent, legal guardian, or court.

The four activities described in this definition are often referred to as components. Each component is briefly described below.

a) interactive literacy activities between parents and their children

Opportunities for positive interaction between parents and children, in which the value of literacy in families is encouraged, are provided.

b) training for parents regarding how to be the primary teacher for their children and full partners in the education of their children

Parents learn how to be their child's most enduring teacher. They learn how to teach their children during play and learn activities, while developing new interaction patterns. They learn about the expectations schools have of their children and learn how to support their children in achieving academic success. They become empowered, thereby enhancing their parental self-esteem.

c) parent literacy training that leads to economic selfsufficiency

Parent literacy training offers instruction to enhance parents' skills as delineated in NYS learning standards. Parents are encouraged to set goals for their educational achievement. Through academic programs such as high school equivalency, GED preparation, adult basic education, Action for Personal Choice, etc., parents develop skills to thrive in society.

d) an age-appropriate education to prepare children for success in school and life experiences.

Preliteracy skills, such as vocabulary building and verbal expression, as well as organizational and social skills, like sharing and active exploration and investigation, are stressed to support the child's social, physical, and educational development. Linkages are created between categories outside of the correctional facility and quality early childhood programs.

Family Literacy in Incarcerated Settings: Why?

By its very definition, family literacy has an almost universal applicability. Adult education classrooms, pre-kindergarten programs, homeless shelters, libraries, programs for pregnant/parenting teens, and Head Start sites are but a few of the settings in which family literacy services thrive. Family literacy can be particularly appropriate for the incarcerated population, as well, considering:

Seven in ten prisoners perform in the lowest two literacy levels.³

On a continuum created by National Adult Literacy Survey (NALS) researchers, literacy was divided into five levels. Adults at Level 1, the lowest skills level, "demonstrate difficulty using certain reading, writing, and computational skills considered necessary for functioning in daily life, and generally function at below the fifth grade reading level." Adults at Level 2 have stronger skills than adults at Level 1, but still have "significant literacy needs."

Furthermore, as many as 82% of inmates are reported to be high school dropouts.⁴ No less significantly, research indicates that "at least twice as many young adults in the criminal justice system show signs of dyslexia as those in the general population."⁵

Approximately 70% of incarcerated individuals are parents.

The number of children of incarcerated parents in the U.S. is most frequently cited at 1.5 million. However, "in 1994, there were 5.1 million persons under correctional supervision. At year's end, on a given day, over one million persons in state and federal prisons, and nearly 500,000 were in city and local jails. There were some 20 million admissions and releases. So, we know that there are millions and millions of children with parents who are or have been incarcerated in prison or in jail."

"The ideal setting is to have the adult and the child involved in the same process of learning, if that process has to take place in a prison, so be it."

Family literacy specialist

³ Adult and Family Literacy in the United States: Key Issues for the 21st Century, White Paper for 1999 National Literacy Forum (National Institute for Literacy)

⁴ Statistic shared at the Eighth Annual National Conference on Family Literacy, Closing General Session (Louisville, KY: April 12, 1999)

^{5 &}quot;Dyslexia and criminal offenders." *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy* (October 1996), 40:2.

⁶ From *Center for Community Alternatives* Internet site, http://www.dreamscape.com/ccacny. April 9, 1999

Just as poverty and low literacy become a cycle within a family, so often does incarceration.

As noted by the Center for Community Alternatives, "The research on children of incarcerated parents indicates that the loss of a parental figure...has a profound effect on children and adolescents. For adolescents, parental incarceration has been associated with poor academic achievement, involvement in delinquency and gang-related activities, violence, and eventually adult criminal behavior. One study estimated that children with imprisoned parents are almost six times more likely than their counterparts to become criminally involved and incarcerated at some point in their future . . . Many of these children [who are separated from their parents by incarceration] see no chance of having their lives follow paths which are any different than those of their parents."

When released, incarcerated individuals often return to families that may not be supportive of change.

A strong support network is important for individuals in the midst of transition. Children, parents, spouses, and other family members can be powerful influences — both positive and negative. On a positive note, parents who have participated in family literacy programs report that their children were their greatest motivation for achieving personal and family goals. On the other hand, incarceration, whether short- or long-term, can erode a parent's confidence in his or her own capabilities to parent successfully.

Others in the surrounding family and social systems may feel and express the same kind of doubts. Even in infancy, children can sense this doubt and might reject the parent as unreliable, unpredictable, unloving, and uninvolved. When incarcerated parents feel isolated from or rejected by their children, they may be more likely to act out in a jail setting, and may incur more punishments. Those punishments, in turn, may result in extended sentences that lengthen the period of physical loss and conflict.

"Kids are mirrors of me and what I say and do."
Participant in family literacy program

The purpose of family literacy within county/municipal correctional facilities, then, is to use education as a means for breaking the intergenerational cycles of illiteracy, poverty, and recidivism and strengthening the connection between incarcerated parents and their families. Preliminary reports are encouraging. Studies of a Wisconsin-based program, "Breaking Barriers with Books: A Father's Book Sharing Program from Prison," detected:

- · less recidivism among program participants
- strong continued literacy interaction between fathers and children facilitating transition to parenting in person upon release
- less in-house [disciplinary] tickets dispensed to participants
- more frequently occurring fatherchild visits.⁸

Family literacy programming is effective for incarcerated populations because of certain underlying principles. First, learners (or inmates) are not only learners (or inmates), they

are also family members. This is an important concept because it helps create a picture of where the individual came from and where he or she is going. Additionally, the following principles are assumed:

- All families have strengths.
- Parents can positively affect their children regardless of external stresses (such as incarceration).
- Parents are their child's primary and most enduring teacher.
- Parents teach by example.
- Parents have a profound effect on their children' success in school and life experiences.
- Children benefit from parental involvement.

In a statistic shared at the Eighth Annual National Conference on Family Literacy, the value of education in reducing recidivism was revealed: 80% of inmates who didn't receive their GED returned to prison. This is in contrast to 52% who received their GED and 18% who attended college that returned to prison.

⁸ From A Partnership Model: Linking Literacy to the Needs of Children and their Incarcerated Fathers presented by Dr. Margaret Humadi Genisio at the Eighth Annual National Conference on Family Literacy (Louisville, KY: April 18-20, 1999).

Implementation of Family Literacy

As with any new enterprise, providing family literacy within an incarcerated setting can be challenging. Many times, incarcerated individuals have had few positive educational experiences. Providers of services can be overwhelmed and frustrated by inmate reluctance and system operations. And, the stress associated with the day-to-day administration and security of a correctional facility can obfuscate the fine line between reformation and punishment.

It is therefore heartening to remember that the nature of family literacy programs minimizes these potential obstacles. Family literacy is the integration and contextualization of existing services. It is not necessarily "added" as another program to an already full docket of programs and services. And, family literacy programs are tailored to meet the needs of each unique setting. Every facility has something upon which to build, whether it be church services, a GED program, or family visitation days.

Perhaps most importantly, inmate resistance to participating in education will likely be negated. The draw of spending quality, interactive time with their children overrides inmates' fear or disregard of educational experiences. To the participants, family literacy is a nonthreatening opportunity for themselves and their families. And, this opportunity ideally leads to the inmate's return to the community as a contributor. The potential impact of family literacy on learner, teacher, correctional officer, administrator, family and community is boundless.

The challenge of implementing family literacy programming is offset by its reliance on respect among the various "players." Respect is important for the smooth operation of any setting, but particularly so for the highly stressful setting of a correctional facility. Respect — for the program, for the facility, for families, etc. — must be encouraged. Empowerment, or providing opportunities to make decisions, is one way in which to display respect for others. To the extent possible or practical, learners, teachers, correctional officers, administrators, and families should be allowed to voice their wishes and concerns.

"I was particularly struck by several incidents during the course of the three task force meetings that bespoke of the young father's valuing of reading. Whenever a children's book was read aloud to the group of inmates, most listened with delight. One inmate reacted with pure delight when the librarian read a book that his sister had read to him as a child. It was quite clear that this book was a legacy, and one that he might well wish to pass on to his own children."

Family literacy specialist

Finally, and most specifically, creating a family literacy program calls for:

Literacy focused instruction

This is achieved through adult education, adult basic education (ABE), high school equivalency (HSE), preparation for the tests of General Educational Development (GED) English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL), Career, Family & Life Skills, and/or Action for Personal Choice (APC).

Contacts between parents and children

Other than visitation, these contacts encourage a bond through reading, playing, and communicating activities. Families have the opportunity to work on different literacy activities together including making audio tapes, sharing stories, and writing.

Strengths-based parent empowerment/education

Family literacy programming is designed to build on family strengths. Families are responsible for identifying their own priorities and making decisions. Parents are provided with the information and support needed to feel empowered in:

- ✓ reaching their family goals.
- ✓ learning about their children's developmental stages.
- ✓ supporting their children's later success in life, both in and out of school.

Child care linkages

Linkages are formed between incarcerated individuals, their children, custodial caregivers, and community service providers.

Connections to post-release support

Upon release, linkages are in place between incarcerated individuals/their families and community programs, such as:

- · schools and libraries
- Head Start programs
- community based organizations (CBO)
- Even Start programs
- literacy volunteers
- adult education programs
- Education for Gainful Employment (EDGE) programs
- Adult Centers for Comprehensive Education and Support Services (ACCESS).

"I would really like to thank the foundation for giving me an opportunity to improve my parenting and communication skills with my child. Thank to this project I have learned how to bring up a very well behaved, smart, thoughtful, responsible young man. Thank you." Participant in family literacy program

Flexibility and innovation

Programs must be flexible enough to meet the various needs and goals of families. Services should be adapted to family goals, rather than fitting families into existing "programs." The design and implementation of programs should recognize that family strengths, interests, and needs are not uniform across all families. Innovation and creativity are necessary to accommodate the diverse and changing needs of different families and the security and administrative realities of the correctional facility.

Any program can begin the process of building a comprehensive family literacy project that suits its facility and resources. Consider, as an example, an incarcerated education program consisting of a single adult education class convening once a week for two hours. Although modest, such a program does have something upon which to build. The lessons presented during the two-hour class period may be contextualized to include family literacy activities (see page 15). Or, an extra half-hour of parent empowerment and support for those students with children may be added to the class. These simple examples prove that the integration of family literacy need not be revolutionary.

In a correctional or jail setting, family literacy services provide a wonderful opportunity for parent and child to stay connected or become connected again. Parenting inmates realize their own strengths and improve their literacy levels. They also gain insight into child development and acquire strategies for parenting effectively. Recognizing the basic belief that incarcerated individuals will be returning to the community and embarking on a productive lifestyle, nurturing connections to family is a significant opportunity for growth and change.

RANGE OF PROGRAM DESIGNS

The value of family literacy within a correctional facility is evident, but perhaps less clear is how such services are provided. As referred to earlier, the NYS Instructional Delivery System Model (IDSM) is comprised of three components: academic, transition, and a continuum of support services. How does family literacy fit into this model?

The ensuing section describes a comprehensive family literacy program in terms of the IDSM. It is important to note that this description serves as a model in the truest sense of the word: a standard of excellence to be replicated. Of course, the ability of each facility to provide services depends on a variety of circumstances, such as participant needs, facility size, staffing patterns, space, staff needs, resources, and cooperation and support from correctional and institutional administrators. It remains true, however, that every facility has something upon which to build a family literacy program that will meet the needs of its inmates.

In preparing for transition back into the community, the focus for many incarcerated individuals is often employment. A comprehensive family literacy program suggests that transition back into a family setting is equally important. Since balancing work and family is an issue for all families, the family and work connection transcends transitioning individuals. However, for this population in particular, there are several transition issues to also consider. By helping incarcerated individuals plan for the reality of a new way of life in terms of employment and family life, transition may become less stressful. Family members and peers can often trigger old behavior patterns. Therefore, developing a strong support network within the family is important. Toward that end, the items noted below are added to the IDSM.

"It keeps the incarcerated parent a part of his or her family, builds communication and hopefully a stronger relationship for all."

Instructional Delivery System Model			
Academic Program Components	Transition program Components	Continuum of Support Services	
Basic Skills (ABE) High School Equivalency Preparation English for Speakers of Other Languages	Computerized Career Assessment Job Decision	Employment Continuing Edcuation Higher Education Family Education/ Empowerment	
(ESOL) Tutorial in High School Subjects	Readiness Making Skills Skills	On-the Job Training/ Apprenticeship Social, Health and Other Support Services	
Career, Family, and Life Skills	Community Support Linkages	Peer Support Groups Family Literacy	

Parent Empowerment & Education (age appropriate behavior, parenting, peer support, accessing resources, etc.) Family Literacy Activities (incorporating family literacy activities into exisiting program components, e.g., how to be a child's

primary teacher, encouraging literacy

in the home)

Family Transition Plan Connections to outside caregiver Opportunities for parents and children to interact (Structured time for literacy activities, family day, connection from a distance, etc.)

Connections
between
outside
caregiver
to existing
early childhood
programs and
to other
community
services

The above graphic represents a comprehensive range of services, with family literacy integrated throughout, available to incarcerated and transitioning individuals. Individual programs may be at any point in the development of this comprehensive model. (In fact, Appendix A features programs in various points of development.) The flexibility and fluidity of this program allows individual programs to operate at any point in their development as well as make decisions at a local level.

Decisions at a local level are key to family literacy programming in correctional facilities. The correctional facility — its security issues, resources, space availability, existing programs, and staff — will determine the design of the family literacy program, perhaps to the point of supervising final inmate selection for participation in the program. Education providers are, after all, guests under the roof of

their host, so they must be respectful of their host's wishes.

The priorities of the host, i.e., the correctional facility, are safety and security. Its purpose is to insure the safety of the public, staff and inmates. To that end, an important chain of command exists as standard operating procedure. Educators must understand this chain of command: who must be consulted or notified for what activity?

Regularly scheduled meetings between educational and correctional staff are necessary to both incorporate and operate a family education model in a correctional facility. These meetings should include security staff, educators, counselors, supervisors, librarians, etc. Ongoing dialogue between educational and correctional staff may, in time, expand the scope of the original family literacy model.

Although processes differ between "hosts," the basic building blocks of a family literacy project within a correctional facility remain constant.

These building blocks — academic preparation, parent/child interaction, caregiver connection, and community linkage — are described in the following section.

The description of each building block is personified by the following hypothetical family and its situation:

"John" is incarcerated in a maximum-security facility that serves sentenced and unsentenced, adolescent and adult males and females. Nineteen-years-old, John tests at a fifth grade reading level. He is the father of two children, "Sam" (five months) and "Angie" (three years). Their mother is "Tisha," who is 17. She dropped out of school after the eighth grade and works part-time at a local grocery store. She and her children live at her mother's house.

Academic Preparation (including Parent Empowerment)

The ultimate goal of any instructional program for incarcerated individuals, family literacy included, is to eliminate the likelihood of repeat criminal behavior and recidivism. Fostering inmates' economic self-sufficiency, though legal and productive activities, is one way in which to lesson the likelihood of recidivism. Such economic self-sufficiency is specifically encouraged by the very definition of family literacy. "Literacy training that leads to economic self sufficiency" may be provided by a combination of:

- · adult basic education
- ESOL
- GED preparation
- · tutorial in high school subjects
- Action for Personal Choice
- Literacy Volunteers
- · library sessions
- life skills

Generally, classroom sessions use literacy building strategies to create, new, productive traditions for communicating, reading, writing, resolving conflicts, solving problems, interacting as members of a society, in addition to teaching parents to recognize themselves as their child's primary teacher. Some programs may add a stand-alone family literacy class that blends literacy and parenting education, but there are also many ways to integrate family literacy activities into existing academic classes. This is often referred to as contextual-ized learning, i.e., lessons are presented within the context of family or parenting issues. The following strategies can be used in either approach — a stand-alone class or integration into existing classes.

- utilizing children's literature by practicing reading in the context of reading to children, discussing the moral of the story, or asking parents to write or draw a children's book
- providing reading materials that are contextualized around parenting/family issues, such as magazines, age appropriate toy catalogues, etc.
- contextualizing math lessons. A math lesson on fractions can be presented within the context of an easy and affordable cooking recipe. This could then be connected to a parenting discussion about safety in the kitchen, about occupying your child while you cook, etc.
- incorporating a variety of learning styles and connecting the variations to how children learn. For example, a lesson on movement could be followed by a description of motor skill development in very young children.
- writing resumes. Resume writing helps learners become familiar with a variety of forms. This activity could be expanded to include completion of other forms, such as doctor's forms, childcare registrations, etc.
- practicing job interview strategies. Strategies used in the job interview process (developing a list of questions, looking at references, using appropriate body language) could also be used when interviewing childcare providers or school personnel.
- collectively establishing "ground rules," such as using positive language, listening in a respectful manner, etc. This can be connected to developing rules for children.

John is working in a group setting with a Literacy Volunteer that meets for one hour twice a week. He will soon transition into a GED preparatory class. His goal is to obtain his GED and move his family out of his mother-in-law's house. Since the family literacy project began, the Literacy Volunteer has contextualized the literacy training materials by using various parenting magazines, children's books appropriate to his children's ages, and the apartment listings in the newspaper. The class was also extended for an extra hour on both days to discuss parenting issues. The class is opened up to other inmates interested in discussing parenting issues for the second hour. Several lessons have been incorporated through the use of the contextualized materials. Some of the topics include the use of age-appropriate toys and books for children, the importance of reading to children regardless of their age, sequencing of newspapers, budgeting for an apartment, developing action plans, communicating with real estate agencies or landlords, using questioning techniques when reading stories to children, etc.

> "I am very thankful to you for this opportunity to learn more about being a parent. To help us see a new way of dealing with children and ourselves."

Participant in family literacy program

Infusing academic preparation with family literacy activities provides an opportunity for improving literacy skills as

well as for sharing parenting strategies. Unlike the academic components that exist in most facilities, however, parent education is sometimes less evident. But, as discussed earlier, the need for parenting skills is very real. The objectives of a parent empowerment and education program, then, are to increase parents':

- opportunities to learn and to share parenting concerns and successes
- ✓ understanding of child development
- ✓ awareness of how their own choices impact their children's lives
- ✓ ability to be their children's primary teacher.

Parent education, in its broadest sense, may include information on child development, relationships, communication, family budgeting, health and safety, drug and alcohol counseling, etc. From family literacy classmates and teachers, inmates may learn about a wide variety of topics (see middle box). The goals and needs of the learners *and* their families are addressed during class.

There should be ample time within the class to discuss both familial and academic issues affecting learners. Materials reinforcing the concepts taught that day might also be distributed at the end of each class. Each class session should include an assessment, whether oral or written, to determine what has been learned. This assessment might involve the creation of an action plan that identifies activities the parent will use to increase self-sufficiency when released from incarceration.

Breaking Barriers with Books, a Wisconsinbased program, has found parent support meetings, run by inmates and their elected group leader, to be integral to their program.

Parent Empowerment Sample Topics

- making parenting easier and fun
- using alternative methods of discipline
- · choosing age-appropriate toys
- reading to children, including newborns
- · defining ways to praise children
- encouraging children's participation in school
- acknowledging the importance of play in developing learning
- understanding how children of every age learn through example.

Reading the Write Way

The Stillwater Correctional Facility received a \$600 grant from the Minnesota Education Association Foundation to fund a program for inmates called "Reaching out the Write Way."

Not only are the inmates at Stillwater taught how to write books during their literacy classes, they learn to illustrate and bind books.

The program, which is relatively inexpensive to run, was initially designed to improve adult literacy and help fathers connect with their children. However, the program has now become a therapeutic link for families. Inmates can write to any member of their families.

Parent/Child Interaction

As depicted in the "Ladybug" story (see page 3), the value of interaction between incarcerated parent and child is priceless. Face-to-face interaction, a time when parents can physically and verbally display love and affection to their children, is ideal for maintaining family connections. Additionally, the opportunity for the incarcerated parent to talk to their child is so important. Language between a parent and a child is an integral part of a child's intellectual and emotional growth. It is also an excellent opportunity for incarcerated parents to apply the experiences and knowledge gleaned from their studies, practicing their responsibilities as their children's primary teacher.

"I felt real good about seeing my son and his mother without a table separating us and holding him without someone saying you can't do that. And it went by too fast for me but I was thankful for the little time we spent together and I thank you for that."

Participant in family literacy program

In some models, children and incarcerated parents come together to engage in what is known as "interactive literacy activities". Generally, an interactive literacy activity is a regularly held one-hour session in which the incarcerated parent, his or her child, and the child's outside caregiver meet at the facility. A member of the corrections security staff and an instructor are also present at this time. The instructor may record his or her observations of the interaction between parent, child, and caregiver for later reflection and discussion in a family education class.

Interactive literacy activities between parents and their children occur twice monthly. During the visit, Tisha, Angie, and John choose a book or educational game related to the theme being taught in Head Start. The visit provides an opportunity for John to practice the techniques learned through his classes. It also provides opportunities for Tisha to feel supported in her efforts at home and for Angie to be prepared for success in school and life.

During this activity period, incarcerated parents and their children can engage in a variety of literacy-building activities, such as reading, talking, and playing alphabet and number games. Puzzles, coloring books and crayons, and other toys might also be available to help engage children who may be shy or somewhat fearful in the unfamiliar surroundings. Parents may also feel shy and unsure about what to do during a visit, so it is helpful to introduce sample activities to the parents and let them become familiar with the materials before their children arrive. In many cases, it is not possible to bring families together in this way due to security or other issues. Fortunately, there are many ways to "connect from a distance." Incarcerated parents may be able to:

- write letters and draw pictures to send to their children.
- send a book, accompanied by an audio tape of the parent reading it, home to their children.

• create an audiotape of songs, rhymes, poems and number exercises for their children.

These activities hone literacy skills of parents, encourage positive relationships between parent and child, and promote learning for children. They can also serve as topics of conversation for when parents are able to either telephone their children or participate in a family day at the facility.

Caregiver Connection

Naturally, interaction between children and their incarcerated parent will be strongly affected by the outside caregiver. As the link between incarcerated parent and child, the outside caregiver can foster interaction in a family literacy context by:

- encouraging children to correspond with their parents.
- making books and other materials sent by parents readily accessible to the children.
- engaging the children in other literacy-building activities. For example, the outside caregiver might read with the child. The child may then wish to send a "book review" to his or her incarcerated parent.
- enrolling in a family literacy program with the child.

For those programs offering time for interactive literacy activities between parents and their children, the role of the outside caregivers becomes even more prominent. They will, after all, be responsible for the children's and

"I learn[ed] today about reading to children and how fun it would be to read to them. Kids are so fun to read to. You can see how much they know and how they learn and what they are thinking about. I personally would like to read to my child right now and see what they know and learned."

Participant in family literacy program

their own involvement in the program. This role must be clear to all involved.

With permission from the incarcerated parent, program staff should contact the outside caregiver to explain the family literacy program and the parent and child time which is spent engaging in interactive literacy activities. In some circumstances, this can be achieved through a visit between program staff and outside caregiver at a mutually convenient site, such as the caregiver's home, the library, or other community site. During this visit, the purpose of the family education program and the interactive literacy activities is explained. The requirements of the correctional facility such as bringing the child's birth certificate to visits — are also explained. Books, materials, and activities that are used in the program can be reviewed and left with the

caregiver. This visit also gives the caregiver an opportunity to voice any concerns about the program. If a visit between program staff and outmaterials sent as a follow-up measure.

When the caregiver is sufficiently informed, the first interactive literacy activity time can be arranged. As circumstances warrant, program staff may wish to offer transportation assistance and other means of support to the caregiver.

Regardless of the availability of time for interactive literacy activities, outside caregivers are vital to any family literacy program operating in a correctional facility. They tend to the health and well being of the children, help strengthen familial ties, and support learning activities of both children and incarcerated parent. The outside caregivers are not alone in carrying out these responsibilities. Both the IDSM and the comprehensive family literacy model advocate connections to a continuum of support services, including early childhood programs.

Community Linkage

In transitioning out of a correctional facility into a community, incarcerated individuals need the support of that community. And, those transitioning individuals who are also parents will find that transition is as life altering to their children and family as it is to them. Linkages to support services facilitate the suc-

Tisha brings Angie to visits to be part of an interactive literacy activity between family members. She hopes to bring Sam to some of the visits, but in the meantime, reads stories to him and talks to him about the visit.

Through Tisha, the Literacy Volunteer made a community connection with the Early Head Start program in which Angie is enrolled to find out what themes and topics were being used with Angie. Often, Tisha shares the materials being used in the classroom and includes a description of how the materials support Angie's learning.

Although Tisha is not fully enrolled in a family literacy program in the community, she is beginning to attend some of the family literacy activities at the Head Start.

cessful return of incarcerated individuals not only to the community but also to a reunified family.

Support services and community linkages are beneficial to and necessary for all parties: incarcerated parent, child, and outside caregiver. Community linkages for the incarcerated parent include transition services provided through the facility that are available in each locality (see IDSM chart on page 13 for possible services). For the incarcerated parent information services are beneficial to and necessary for all parties: incarcerated parent, child, and outside caregiver. Community linkages are beneficial to and necessary for all parties: incarcerated parent, child, and outside caregiver. Community linkages are beneficial to and necessary for all parties: incarcerated parent, child, and outside caregiver. Community linkages are beneficial to and necessary for all parties: incarcerated parent, child, and outside caregiver. Community linkages for the incarcerated parent include transition services provided and alcohol alcohol and alcohol alcohol and alcoho

- counseling services
- community-based organizations
- employment programs
- educational opportunities

caregiver, linkages may be to:

- family support programs
- the Department of Social Services
- · religious organizations.

John attends counseling services for drug and alcohol abuse provided through a community based organization (CBO). Once a month, the counselor from the CBO joins the parent information group to support discussions related to the effects of drug abuse on families.

Angie is enrolled in an Early Head Start program.

Examples of outreach services for the children are Head Start programs, pre-school programs, connections to the local library, counseling services, etc. Incarcerated parent, child, and outside caregiver can also all benefit from role modeling, mentoring opportunities, and linkages with other family literacy programs provided by "outside" individuals or agencies.

It is prudent to reiterate that the four building blocks — academic preparation (including parent empowerment), parent/child interaction, caregiver connection, and community linkage — are indeed that: building blocks. Depending on the sequence and assembly of those building blocks, any number of sound structures can be formed. To further the analogy, the building process can be fraught with delays and obstacles. With a comprehensive blueprint, however, these challenges are minimized. Such a blueprint includes the builder's (in this case, the correctional facility's) unique circumstances: participant needs, facility size, staffing patterns, space, staff needs, resources, and cooperation and support from correc-

tional and institutional administrators.

BLUEPRINT FOR IMPLEMENTATION

A blueprint is any exact or detailed plan or outline. The following checklist might be considered a generic blueprint for implementing a family literacy program within a correctional facility. Of course, the details of the blueprint will be determined by the unique circumstances of each facility.

Research local, state, and national family literacy initiatives

- ✓ Visit facilities with existing family literacy programs.
- ✓ Contact the *National Center for Family Literacy* (see Appendix B for "Resources").
- ✓ Review the program descriptions included in this guide (see Appendix A).
- ✓ Conduct a search on family literacy and/or support and empowerment on the Internet.
- ✓ Consider program alternatives.

Establish a family literacy committee

- ✓ Develop a partnership with jail/corrections administration and staff. It is very important that they be involved in every aspect of program planning and implementation.
- ✓ Identify and invite other individuals to serve on the committee, including family literacy providers from the community.

Conduct a preliminary program assessment

- ✓ Assess existing services, including volunteer, within the facility.
- ✓ Assess the facility's population, noting inmates in need of literacy services who are also parents of young children.
- ✓ Poll educational and correctional staff to determine interest in family literacy project.
- ✓ Assess space availability for family literacy program and for storage of materials.
- ✓ Assess existing equipment (telephone, fax, computer, email, software, printer, etc.).

Develop a budget

- ✓ Assess funding streams (see "Funding" section on page 31).
- ✓ Work with existing programs and build on their momentum.
- ✓ Gain financial support from facility and outside sources.

Address procedural details

- ✓ Evaluate existing program schedule.
- ✓ Evaluate visitation schedule.
- ✓ Establish a timeline with the facility.
- ✓ Establish referral procedure.
- ✓ Establish criteria for program participation.
- ✓ Establish program calendar of events.
- ✓ Establish procedure for parent/child interaction (including permission to contact outside caregiver, transportation to and from the facility, alternative methods of interaction, release of information/pictures).
- ✓ Procure space.
- ✓ Develop necessary forms (see Appendix D).

Develop and implement a marketing plan

- ✓ Meet with facility administrators/staff and program staff to develop a marketing plan.
- ✓ Review the "Marketing" section of this document. (See page 35).
- ✓ Create a fact sheet, brochure, flier, etc.

"I felt real good about seeing my son and his mother without a table separating us and holding him without someone saying you can't do that. And it went by too fast for me but I was thankful for the little time we spent together and I thank you for that."

Participant in family literacy program

Train staff

- ✓ Identify preferred qualifications for staff members (e.g., life skills educator, social worker, certified alcoholism credential, Action for Personal Choice trainer, trained in civilian orientation, certified adult educator, a person with experience working with families, etc.).
- ✓ Send staff to regional and state conferences.
- ✓ Review this document, particularly the section on staff development.
- ✓ Participate in Staff Development Consortia offerings (see Appendix C).

Forge linkages

- ✓ Identify community resources valuable to transitioning individuals and their families (such as local schools and community colleges, medical/health facilities, libraries, family literacy programs in the community, etc.).
- ✓ Meet with representatives to confirm linkage.
- ✓ Develop referral system.

Devise classroom learning experiences

- ✓ Review model learning experiences.
- ✓ Review NY State learning standards.
- ✓ Ensure learning experiences are parent/child-centered (meeting the needs of the family).
- ✓ Incorporate a variety of instructional strategies and learning styles (see page 25).
- ✓ Encourage creativity and flexibility.
- ✓ Order multicultural materials appropriate to the population.

Conduct follow up and post program assessment

- ✓ Follow up with facility and program staff through meetings and other sharing opportunities.
- ✓ Develop a participant evaluation to assess participant satisfaction (journal, portfolio, checklist, suggestions, etc.).
- ✓ Assess literacy gains (see "Assessment" section on page 28).
- ✓ Consider longitudinal studies (impact on kindergarten readiness, academic gain, family stability, recidivism, etc.).

Due to family literacy's focus on local decision making, the above checklist is purposely general. However, the universal applicability and importance of some items — namely, raising education standards for *all* students (children and adults), funding, marketing, and staff development — is of such a nature as to warrant further description.

Raising Standards

The bottom line of family literacy, whether offered in a correctional facility or elsewhere, is furthering learners' language development. New York State defines the parameters of "language development" in its English Language Arts (ELA) learning standard. ELA is one of seven learning standards established by the New York State Education Department in its statewide effort to raise standards for *all* students, including adult learners. This effort focuses on set-

ting high standards, building capacity, and accounting for results. (All seven of the learning standards are presented in Appendix E)

THE NEED FOR HIGHER STANDARDS

The effort to raise learning standards is inextricably imbedded in the foundations of family literacy. The need for higher standards for parents *and* children is evident:

- Research by the Rand Corporation (1996) indicates that one of the most important influences on student test scores is the level of parental education
- Statistical profiles of schools with low or declining performance show that these schools serve comparatively high percentages of students whose parents have limited or no English language proficiency, have not completed high school, read at less than an eighth grade level, and currently receive public assistance.
- Children's literacy levels and readiness for school are directly linked to their parent's literacy level.

With approximately 70% of incarcerated individuals as parents and reports of over 33% of women in custody having 3 or more children,⁹ the need for family literacy in an incarcerated setting is no less compelling. Family literacy can help foster a powerful interdependence within the family and give hope for the next generation.

Learning standards have two primary dimensions. *Content standards* describe what students should know, understand, and be able to do. *Performance standards* define levels of student achievement pertaining to content. The teaching and learning taking place between these two dimensions is perhaps the most crucial element of the entire process.

⁹ Statistic from Project Greenhope: Services for Women, Inc. (New York, NY)

Family literacy programs set goals to raise literacy levels of individuals within family units. Imbedding the learning standards can enhance the level of family literacy functioning. It is critical to the success of family literacy in incarcerated settings that these standards be incorporated into its design and delivery. By so doing, incarcerated adults will be better prepared as parents and individuals to tackle the economic, social, and familial challenges and realities existing today. This, in turn, provides the tools for parents to be their children's primary and most influential teacher and to prepare their children for later success in school.

It should be cautioned, however, that adult learners' goals may not include mastery of all the learning standards at one time. For all adults, the reality is study interrupted by life's demands (family, work, health issues, etc.), followed by more study. Incarcerated adults in family literacy programs are no different. They may choose to master only one or two of the learning standards. This may be, however, the beginning of a continuing effort to address other learning standards. Later, during transition, they may enter another adult education program, further enhancing their skills by tackling another learning standard. Or, they may enter an employment training program, again strengthening their skills.

Teachers and counselors can help adult learners and their children by utilizing a family literacy context. Learner's goals can be achieved by creatively using the critical educational processes: instructional planning, curriculum development, classroom management, peer review, and assessment. With thoughtful planning, teachers can create parent-child literacy activities that:

- ✓ capitalize on skills and life experiences.
- ✓ maximize impact.
- ✓ meet families' time frames.
- ✓ achieve the learning standards.

PLANNING PARENT-CHILD LITERACY ACTIVITIES

The learning standards are a starting point in any educational endeavor. This particular document focuses the benefits of family literacy on adults in facilities, so the information as it relates to learning standards in this guide is geared toward adults. (For more information on children, please reference the K-12 and Pre-K resource guide.) From this point, educators can examine instruc-

"Many parents commented that they thought they had to spend a lot of money on toys and books, but now they knew about the library or using household items to play with their children. One father stated that he thought all a parent needed to do was to buy his son food and toys. He now understood the importance of reading and playing with his son."

Family literacy specialist

tional practice, share what they do each day, work in collaboration with other teachers and students, and grow in their understanding of their craft. Educators planning family literacy programs in incarcerated settings, in particular, face both tremendous challenges and wonderful opportunities.

In order to maximize the impact of parent-child literacy activities, language basic to education should be explicitly defined. At the minimum, instructional planning, curriculum development, classroom management, peer review, and assessment must be clear.

Instructional planning: designing learning experiences or activities

Curriculum: a set of intended learning outcomes

Classroom management: orchestration of all phases of instructional planning, imple-

mentation, and delivery; also known as "creating a learning

community"

Peer review: a formalized process for fine-tuning learning experiences,

building capacity of teaching technique, and incorporating

learning standards.

Assessment: the measure of outcome mastery

Instructional Planning

Instruction, properly conceived, is an effort to assist in shaping growth. The events and experiences of a family's life also shape growth. By imaginatively incorporating a family's experiences into instructional planning, it is possible to optimize learning. After all, instruction is about designing learning experiences or instructional activities that build on prior experiences, meeting families' goals and needs, and achieving the learning standards.

Even though inmates and their families are in programs for limited times, skilled instructional planning, imbued with a little creativity, can broaden the learning experience.

 Adult educators should not be shy about tapping into their own resourcefulness in planning instructional activities and learning experiences. The breadth of available resources for planning is unending: newspapers children's books children's programs

newspapers children's books children's programs
toys clothing subway maps
health brochures advertising flyers situation comedies
quiz shows world wide web sites music videos

• In order to select and achieve learning standards, it

"While I was walking to the lobby with the families after Parent and Child Time and asking questions about their impressions of this family time together, Mercedes, a 3 year old, mentioned that of all the toys she like the books best. I asked. "What kind of books do you like to read?" She answered "Bear Books!" I promised I would have bear books for her next visit. Her mom Dianne. who works at a women's facility, was impressed and very happy to participate. She said it meant the world to her 3-yearold."

Family literacy specialist

is necessary to become familiar with this document and the *Adult Education Resource Guide and Learning Standards* (see Appendix B for "Resources").

 To assist in instructional planning, SED has developed a number of programs and other resources addressing a variety of populations and issues. (Consult the Adult Education Resource Guide and Learning Standards for a list of programs.)

Curriculum Development

Once learning standards consistent with the learner's goals are selected, it is then necessary to further delineate the learning by selecting learner outcomes or performance indicators. Ultimately, intended learning outcomes must be expressed in measurable terms. As teachers become seasoned in developing learning experiences, the identification of performance indicators becomes second hand. For additional guidance on curriculum development, consult the *Adult Education Resource Guide and Learning Standards*.

<u>Classroom Management</u>

Another way to broaden the scope of learning standards is to look for opportunities in classroom management. This important educational process encompasses all activities that contribute to making a family literacy program in any setting work.

While classroom management extends far beyond, the correctional facility is the hub where learning experiences and activities are planned, guided, facilitated, assessed, and documented. The care exercised in creating an inviting and safe environment for instruction to take place will go a long way to ensuring that families achieve their goals in a timely fashion. This can be especially challenging in a jail where danger, rather than safety, is the unspoken message.

The extent to which classroom management is relevant to instruction and the learning standards is a function of the program. Family literacy may range from inmates sending recorded readings home to an actual program in a correctional facility. Depending upon the nature of the family literacy program, good classroom management can extend from greeting families when they enter the room; to selecting instructional resources; to organizing the environment in a comfortable, non-threatening arrangement; to en-

"It gave us a chance to maintain the rapport and bond that we have, and lets me monitor my child's behavior when interacting with other people. I commend the teachers' involved in the Parent and Child Time program for their understanding and enthusiasm when teaching the program."

Participant in family literacy program

30

couraging self-monitoring of behavior; to settling disputes and managing differences in a respectful way. Many of these management activities provide opportunities for addressing the learning standards. Perhaps the greatest opportunity for addressing the learning standards lies with the diversity of incarcerated adults and their families. As cited in learning standard two of Languages other than English:

Students will develop cross-cultural skills and understanding.

Asking learners from different cultures and their families to share their traditions, stories, songs, and uniqueness can be part of a series of activities that facilitate cross-cultural understanding. Diversity is reflected at the same time that the valuing of diversity is communicated. This example maximizes the impact of common classroom management practices. Other opportunities for addressing the learning standards abound.

Peer Review

As with other education programming, learning experiences are a vehicle for incorporating the learning standards into an incarcerated setting's family literacy program. In New York State, the best of learning experiences are shared through a formal process called peer review. Peer review provides an opportunity to enhance the applicability and ensure the quality of learning experiences.

Initially, peer review occurs at the regional level through the adult education staff development consortia (SDC). Upon approval at the regional level, learning experiences undergo a statewide peer review. All adult educators, including family literacy practitioners, are encouraged to share their best practices with others by submitting and presenting learning experiences to peer review groups. More information can be obtained from the appropriate SDC listed in Appendix C.

Assessment

In creating parent-child literacy activities, the discussion thus far has touched on meeting families' goals and time frames, capitalizing on skills and life experiences, and achieving learning standards. What is missing? Assessment.

Although assessment can be the subject of a far-reaching discussion, it will be described here in terms of indicators for parent-child literacy activities in an incarcerated setting. Generally, assessment makes the educational process complete by:

- measuring the achievement of the learning standards.
- establishing benchmarks for the skills learners already possess.
- evaluating the effectiveness of a program.

As noted earlier, family literacy activities begin with the establishment of adult learners' goals for themselves and their families. Based on these goals, instruction is structured by measurable performance indicators or outcomes. For example, if parents want to help their children with homework, their instruction would be structured within the context of that activity.

As instruction occurs, how someone progresses in literacy is often characterized as a highly complex process. It need not be. Rather, it is simply a systematic method for determining the skills a learner possesses and whether instruction has been successful. For example, assessment might occur after 100 hours of family literacy participation to measure participant gain. A variety of methods — number of books read with children, increased participation in other programs, library visits, etc. — could be used to make this assessment.

From standardized testing to portfolio or other authentic assessment, any number of techniques are available to determine the success of instruction. Traditionally, educators have regarded standardized testing, either norm-referenced or criterion-referenced, as the primary mode of assessment. Thankfully, authentic, performance-based assessments, such as portfolios, have become increasingly accepted as valuable measures. ¹⁰ Both traditional and authentic (or performance-based) assessments are described below.

¹⁰ The New York State Interagency Assessment Work Group, *A Guide for Developing High Quality, Comprehensive Assessment (Albany, NY: New York State Education Department.)*

Traditional Assessment Strategies

As stated earlier, standardized testing is the traditional assessment strategy most often used in education, both K-12 and adult. The two major types of standardized testing are norm-referenced measures and criterion-referenced measures.

Norm-referenced Measures

Norm-referenced measures compare an individual's performance to the performance of groups of people, i.e., the norm group. Presented in terms of percentiles, stanines, or grade levels, these measures show whether a learner "knows" more or less than other persons in the group. The GED tests and the Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) are examples of this kind of standardized test.

Criterion-referenced measures

Criterion-referenced measures evaluate learner performance against skills they are expected to achieve. Their progress is measured against specific criteria, such as the knowledge needed to master a specific job, liferelated tasks, etc. Although less common than norm-referenced measures, many adult educators will recognize the Tests of Adult Basic Education (TABE) as an example of a criterion-referenced measure.

Authentic, Performance-based Assessments
Authentic, performance-based assessments are designed to supply direct evidence of what a learner is able to do in contexts that have a real work or life purpose. In other words, learners supply answers, perform actions, and/or create products that demonstrate their mastery of the learning standards, goals, and objectives. Authentic, performance-based assessments, which may be considered less traditional, include surveys, interviews, learner self-assessment, portfolios, observation measures, etc.

In using performance-based assessments, it is important that both the teacher and the learner understand what is expected. The basic ingredients of a performance assessment are trifold: the specification of a performance to be evaluated, the development of exercises or tasks used to elicit that performance, and the design of a scoring and recording scheme for results. Thus, some form of scoring instrument should be used for making decisions about the quality of the "performance." A checklist, some form of anecdotal record, or rubric should be developed to formalize the assessment process.

Remember, too, that learners should have a voice in how they will demonstrate their mastery. Learners with strong writing skills may wish to include an essay of self-reflection in their portfolios, while those with strong people skills may wish to complete a group project. Roleplaying, demonstrations, videotapes, reports, journals, illustrations, interviewing — the list of potential tools for assessment is endless.

All of these methods provide information on whether an objective has been met. As part of the ever-changing planning of instruction, assessment is a work in progress. Creative educators can and do devise ways of assessment which are effective and nurturing, and give value to what learners know about life.

Funding

Theoretically, the bottom line in transitioning incarcerated individuals back to the community is to provide unrestricted access to any and all educational services facilitating that passage. In today's reality of narrowing resources, however, this idealism is tempered somewhat by the age old question of, "How will it be paid for?"

A perceived lack of funding should not be the sole criterion upon which family literacy planning takes place. First, it is important to remember that a family literacy project builds on *existing* programs and services. Second, family literacy has become an important component of adult education planning and funding. Hence, more and more sources of local, state, federal, and private funding are becoming available; a partial list is noted below.

Participant in family literacy program

[&]quot;When I read to my child, I will make sure that I explain to her the story I read [so] she understands it clearly. I can also let my child choose the book that she desires."

¹¹ Stiggins, R.J. Learner-centered classroom assessment (Columbus, OH: Macmillan, 1994)

Barbara Bush Foundation

This private foundation focuses primarily on family literacy. An annual competitive process awards 15-20 programs nationwide with up to \$50,000. In Onondaga County, a 1998 Barbara Bush grant awarded to OCM BOCES provided a significant start-up fund to develop a comprehensive Family Education/PACT program (time for parents and children to engage in interactive literacy activities) at the Onondaga County Department of Corrections.

EPE

NYS Employment Preparation Education (EPE) funds are generated on a contact hours-basis for adults 21 and older who do not have a high school diploma or its equivalent. These funds may be used to provide educational services (e.g., adult basic education, GED preparation, life skills, training for employment) for adults participating in educational programs.

Even Start

Even Start Family Literacy federal dollars are available in NYS through an annual competitive application process. Even Start Family Literacy Partnerships provide intensive family literacy services that integrate the four components described in the family literacy definition on page 4. Families involved with the family literacy program and PACT can be linked to Even Start as a way to continue developing the role of parent as first and most important teacher.

FACE

Family and Child Education is a model that shows the portability of family literacy across cultural lines. A total of 22 FACE sites operate at American Indian schools in nine states. FACE is the result of an alliance among the Bureau of Indian Affairs, Parents as Teachers, High/Scope Educational Research Foundation, and the National Center for Family Literacy.

Head Start

Head Start and Early Head Start are comprehensive child development programs which serve children from birth to age five, pregnant women, and their families. They are child-focused programs and have the overall goal of increasing the school readiness of young children in low-income families. The Head Start program is administered by the Head Start Bureau, the Administration on Children, Youth and Families (ACYF), Administration for Children and Families (ACF), Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS). Grants are awarded by the ACF Regional Offices and the Head Start bureau's American Indian and Migrant Program Branches directly to local public agencies, private organization, Indian tribes and school systems for the purpose of operating Head Start programs at the community level.

Knight Family Education

The John S. and James L. Knight Foundation joined the family literacy movement in 1994. Knight programs were funded for three years. Over those three years, the programs provided a view of "big city" problems and how to address them through family literacy in smaller communities.

Neglected & Delinquent

Neglected & Delinquent refers to state aid generated by school districts in which jails or county correctional facilities are located. Based on an attendance factor (calculated annually in October), these funds can be used to support family literacy in the facility, staffing supplies, and materials.

STAC

Chapter 683 of the Laws of 1986 is designed to provide educational services to incarcerated youth, ages 16-20. State Aid (STAC 201) funds are intended for use while youths are inside the facility.

Title I

School districts can access Title I of Improving American Schools Act funds. This program includes family programs, early literacy, and parenting education. Programs can link with school districts and provide these services at the school.

Toyota Families for Learning

The Toyota Families for Learning Program is designed so that family literacy programs use initial start-up funding for three years, while, at the same time, building local funding collaborations to sustain their operation after that three-year period passed. From its initial investment in 1991, Toyota has expanded its support to include a total of 19 cities.

UPS Family Education

The United Parcel Service Foundation has supported family literacy programs, both in urban and extremely rural areas. Nine program sites in Louisville and McCreary County, both in Kentucky, have helped prove family literacy's versatility in a number of diverse settings.

WIA

The Workforce Investment Act was signed into federal law in 1998 and is being developed at the state level for implementation in FY2000. This act clearly makes family literacy a high education priority, linking adult/parental academic achievement with children's academic readiness and success. It also acknowledges that improved academic levels help the family support itself through gainful employment. Through NYS, fund allocation will be competitive and linked to performance measures and NYSED's learning standards.

21st Century Community Learning Centers

Annual awards were established by Congress to provide educational and social programs, particularly those focusing on literacy, children's daycare, 12-month programming, library service, and parenting skills. Grants are made to consortia of schools, both urban and rural, to enable them to plan, implement, and expand projects that benefit the families of the district. The awards range from \$35,000 to \$300,000 for each of three years.

There are many sources of funding, particularly for those who can think "out of the box." Local funding may be more readily available than expected at first glance. For example, commissary funds provided through the jail or correctional facility are intended for use in the facility and have helped programs purchase equipment, supplies, and materials. As part of its longstanding focus on adult literacy, the Rotary has donated materials and supplies. Churches may be willing to transport inmates' families to the correctional facility for parent and child time which includes parents and children engaging in interactive literacy activities.

Other examples abound. Inmates themselves have been known to donate some prison earnings to purchase books for programs. Reading Is Fundamental (RIF) donates millions of books to facilities serving children unlikely to grow up with books. A Wisconsin-based program receives books from the National Council on the Humanities.

To get started on the funding challenge, remember to research, research, research. Conduct Internet searches on family literacy and funding. Contact the National Center for Family Literacy (NCFL). In addition to providing technical assistance, NCFL has resource materials (e.g., Funding a Family Literacy Program) available and presents an annual national conference. Peruse trade journals such as The Chronicle of Philanthropy: The Newspaper of the Non-Profit World (for information, see http://philanthropy.com).

Marketing

Family literacy is *good* — therefore it speaks for itself. Unfortunately, in a time of 30-second sound bites and meals on the run, anything that someone needs to "buy" must be sold, marketed, or promoted — particularly to potential funding entities.

The notion that family literacy in alternative settings needs to be marketed can be an anathema to program planners. However, marketing family literacy is the same as marketing anything else. It is *always* based on the "WIIFM Principle" — What's in it for me? Why should I buy? How is my life (family, school, future) going to change if I buy? Madison Avenue *really* knows how to market!¹² When an advertisement appears on television or in a magazine, it is targeted toward a particular group or market segment. Madison Avenue promises that life will be better if we buy jeans; eyeliner; beer; a fancy new car, truck, or van; laundry soap; cigarettes; etc. And we believe Madison Avenue. We buy!

While one could argue about commercial advertising's tactics, its principles are worth examining. Applying Madison Avenue's principles to family literacy in an incarcerated setting requires asking the following questions:

- What's in it for me?
- What is the product?
- What's the transaction?
- Who are the buyers?
- Who is the seller?
- Are the buyers internal or external to the system?

"The Parent and Child Time I spent with my child today and all other Parent and Child Time is of immense value to me. I enjoyed myself very much, and from my observation, so did my child."

Participant in family literacy program

¹² Adapted from Hudson River Center for Program Development, Inc., WORK-BASED LEARNING: A Resource Guide for Change (Glenmont, NY: Author, 1996.)

INTERNAL BUYERS

When planning a family literacy program in an incarcerated setting, it is important to consider the people within the system who must be convinced that it is a good idea, i.e., those who must "buy" the concept. These internal buyers may include teachers, administrators (both corrections and education), corrections officers, and administrative bodies (such as boards of education).

As an example, consider why teachers would want to be involved in or supportive of family literacy. What's in it for them to "buy?" They might answer:

- Staff development opportunities and additional resources will be made available.
- As part of a collective whole, teachers will feel supported.
- Teachers will have a positive impact on the entire family.
- Students will be more likely to seek services upon release.
- Students will be more motivated to succeed in their work.
- Families will be drawn together during incarceration.

Why would corrections' administrators be interested in family literacy? Examples of their answers are:

- Inmates will maintain closer relationships with their families, thus observing the rules.
- Inmates will be less apt to recidivate due to closer ties with their families.
- · The jail administration will gain recognition as innovators.

EXTERNAL BUYERS

As a marketing campaign is being developed for promoting or selling family literacy in incarcerated settings, the same questions must be asked of external buyers as internal buyers. External buyers might include funding entities, community service providers, and families of incarcerated individuals. The inmates/students themselves might also be considered external buyers since, in the vast majority of cases, participation in a family literacy program is voluntary.

As these questions are asked of all buyers, the thrust of the marketing campaign will become clear. For example, the reason inmates might buy a family literacy program is:

- It provides them with an opportunity to communicate with their children.
- Their participation might make them feel better about themselves as parents and enhance their image in the eyes of their children.
- All parents like to talk about their children.
- It passes time.

Funding entities and community service providers might be interested in supporting family literacy programs because:

- It satisfies their mission of working with troubled families.
- The program tests the importance of parent-child relationships in successful transitioning from a correctional facility.
- Staff development opportunities may become available.
- · It provides an opportunity for community building.
- They can be perceived as innovative in their efforts to strengthen families during incarceration.

Support for family literacy will be garnered based on the extent to which its "sellers" are deliberate and thoughtful about defining the product and identifying the various buyers. The seller's perception of why someone should buy the product is inconsequential. The critical perceptions are those of the buyers.

Buyers' perceptions can be positively influenced in a variety of ways. Marketing strategies that successfully promote family literacy include:

- large and small group presentations at staff meetings, regional workshops, and conferences
- · videotape presentations of successful programs
- · site visits to successful family literacy programs
- brochures and letters
- interviews on specific talk shows or cable access programs
- articles in local newspapers.

One of the most successful marketing strategies draws from the do *with*, rather than *to*, theory of program development. Creating a planning team of teachers, administrators, corrections staff, students, and service providers within the jail will promote ownership of the

program. A multifaceted project like family literacy requires a multifaceted team to make it successful. In all cases, people have to clearly understand what the specific benefits are to them.

Different strategies have to be developed for different buyers or market segments (although it is true that to some degree, buyers may share significant, deeply felt reasons for buying – see box). Developing targeted strategies for different groups may be more work than having one generic strategy but the results will testify to the soundness of the approach. More effective persuasion of the importance of family literacy and more tangible support for the program will result. (For further information on marketing, consult *Social Marketing: A "How To" Approach.* 13)

"Within each person lies a bone-deep longing for freedom, self-respect, hope, and the chance to make an important contribution to one's family, community, and the world. Without healthy outlets for this powerful, natural longing, the desire for freedom turns into lawlessness, and the need for selfrespect is expressed in aggression and violence. Without avenues to make important contributions to family, community, and the world, hopelessness translates into dependency, depression, violence, substance abuse and other forms of self-abuse. No government program can help families become self-reliant, contributing members of their communities unless it is built on a recognition of the power of this bone-deep longing for freedom, self-respect, hope, and the chance to make an important contribution."

Excerpted from Dean, Christiann. Cornell Empowering Families Project. *Empowerment Skills for Family Workers: A Worker Handbook.* (Ithaca, New York: Author 1998)

Staff Development

As described above, marketing must occur both externally and internally. Without external marketing, marshalling outside resources can prove difficult. Without internal marketing, project implementation may be halted. In fact, the enthusiasm of staff can really "make or break" a project such as family literacy. Staff development, therefore, is key to successfully providing family literacy services within a correctional facility.

Family literacy is an unusual project in that it builds on existing services and operates using a strengths-based approach. Because family literacy is really a "project of coordination," it can be difficult to pinpoint a curriculum for staff development. Staff development can and does occur, however, and on several different levels. Efforts should focus on the key components of family literacy:

- contextualizing adult education to help parents reach the goals they have for themselves and their families
- providing parents literacy training that leads to economic self-sufficiency
- supporting parents in their roles of primary teacher to their children and full partners in the education of their children

¹³ Hudson River Center for Program Development, Inc., Social Marketing: A "How To" Approach (Glenmont, NY: Author, 1996)

- facilitating life skills
- creating opportunities for incarcerated parents and their families to make positive literacy-based connections
- using a strengths-based approach
- making transition to home and community a priority
- forging connections with the family outside of the facility to existing community resources (i.e., creating a natural support network for the entire family upon release)
- connecting children to age-appropriate education that prepares them for success in school and life experiences.

Although there is no "pre-packaged" way of providing family literacy, numerous resources are listed in the *Resources* section of this document (Appendix B) and some preliminary steps are noted below:

- ✓ Before thinking about a staff development plan, be sure to have a handle on the basic concepts of family literacy. Take advantage of the many research tools available by:
 - accessing the Internet to conduct a search on family literacy and/or family support and empowerment.
 - visiting the library or calling the National Center for Family Literacy or the Family Resource Coalition of America for an information packet (see Appendix B for phone numbers and web sites).
- ✓ Contact an existing family literacy program in an incarcerated setting to arrange a visit. If you have a limited travel budget and are new to the concepts of family literacy, try to visit any local family literacy site. Technical assistance teams are also available to share their experiences with and expertise on family literacy. (For more information on technical assistance teams, please contact the Hudson River Center for Program Development, Inc. See Appendix B for its phone number and web site.)
- ✓ Contact a local staff development provider, such as the New York State Staff Development Consortia (see Appendix C) and ask to be put on their mailing list.
- ✓ Attend New York State Incarcerated Education regional or statewide conferences.

- ✓ Review the program descriptions provided in this guide. (See Appendix A).
- ✓ Review materials on children's developmental stages and 0-3 year brain research.
- ✓ Talk to the front-line staff working directly with the families (e.g., Adult Basic Education teacher, Literacy Volunteer, parent education volunteer from the community, school personnel, correctional officers, transition counselors, drug and alcohol counselors, etc.).

The last item in the preceding list is particularly important. Family literacy is not a stand-alone program, so staff development should benefit *all* staff involved with the program. Family literacy is truly a team effort — for families, for front-line staff, and for the agencies involved. Although one person may be coordinating the effort, it is important to develop a team of partners. A family literacy team may include:

- parents
- community service providers
- custodial care-givers
- transition counselors
- teachers/educational services staff
- schools
- correctional officers
- child care providers
- drug and alcohol counselors
- service providers (including church services, health, social, employment, etc.)
- facility librarian or book providers

Putting together a family literacy team should begin with a partnership or link with the programs and services manager of the correctional facility. Then, it may be helpful to brainstorm a "wish list" of contact people both in and out of the facility that might be interested in, or valuable to, a family literacy program. This is an important step since many educators and other service providers work parttime, making it difficult to know exactly which services are provided or what agencies are working with the facility.

Another way to unearth interest in and ideas for a family literacy program is to survey program, service, and facility staff. It is impossible to tell who might contribute what, so avoid setting parameters on who receives the survey. Take advantage (if appropriate) of the facility's mailbox system!

Through the survey and other communications, seek answers to the following questions in terms of either a proposed or currently existing program:

- Does our staff development plan help provide interactive literacy activities between parents and their children?
- Does our staff development plan help prepare parents to be the primary teacher for their children and full partners in their education?
- Does our staff development plan provide parent literacy preparation that leads to economic/social healthy interdependence?
- Does our staff development plan provide appropriate connections that prepare children for success in school and life experiences?
- Will staff feel prepared to include methods of teaching beginning learners, ways of addressing learning differences, and ways to incorporate positive life experiences to contextualize learning?
- Will staff feel prepared to build on individual family strengths?
- Will staff feel prepared to help families reach their own goals, rather than goals made for them?
- Is the staff development plan culturally appropriate?

Finally, remember the audience. Even though a family literacy program is guided by many factors (e.g., facility regulations, existing program services, staff expertise, and community resources), the actual recipients and beneficiaries of family literacy are incarcerated parents and their families. Inmates should be surveyed, too. What services do they currently receive? What additional services would be helpful? What are their family's goals both during the time of incarceration and for the future? Are these goals attainable based on the support and instruction they currently receive?

Such communication among all potential partners of a family literacy team helps form the linkages throughout the facility so integral to the success of family literacy. Although trust issues and fear of change may hamper preliminary efforts, over time, linkages will strengthen. And, initially, a "team" may very well consist of two people sharing an interest in family literacy. Recognizing the network inherent in every facility and community, however, this team will double, quadruple, and so forth. Regardless of the size of a dedicated family literacy team, its goals remain the same: to reduce recidivism and to help families break the cycle of incarceration.

"I think the program is a wonderful idea. It gives my daughter a chance to spend quality time with her father as to where he can play with her, read to her or just hold her and kiss her, as to regular visits he can't."

Caretaker

CONCLUSION

Ironically, breaking the cycle — of incarceration, of illiteracy, of poverty — can be achieved by strengthening the fundamental cycle of intergenerational relationships. Parents teach children who may become parents teaching their children. In an even tighter cycle, children are, in a sense, teachers to their own parents. Parents learn by reading to and about their children, enhancing reading comprehension skills, knowledge of child development, etc. And, many parents cite their children as their primary motivation to further their education.

It is particularly befitting for incarcerated parents to interact with their children in literacy-promoting activities. Too often, this population is at an educational disadvantage. This disadvantage has profound implications for not only their own achievement, but also for the achievements of their children. Family literacy programs strive to minimize the impact of such disadvantage. Through the careful construction of its main building blocks (academic preparation, parent/child interaction, caregiver connection, and community linkage), family literacy programs maximize the familial, educational, personal, social, and vocational opportunities of intergenerational learning.

Appendix A: NYS Incarcerated Education Programs with Family Literacy

Wayne County Jail

Wayne County Jail 7368 Route 31 Lyons, NY 14489

Description of Program: Family education instruction is connected to existing jail services.

Major Goal(s): The project is working toward interactive parent/child sessions in the jail.

Main Feature(s): Incarcerated parents record children's stories on tape and create books to share with their children.

Student Information: Adult males and females are served, meeting separately once a week.

Curriculum Information: Topics of discussion include age appropriate books and toys, role modeling, learning through play, communication, and the importance of reading and being involved in your child's education.

Other Information: To receive home visits, participants must meet eligibility requirements for Even Start (i.e., most in need of terms of illiteracy and poverty), and the outside caregiver must agree to participate. Eligible participants will be in Even Start upon release.

Cooperating Educational Programs: Lyons/Sodus Even Start Family Literacy; Wayne Finger Lakes BOCES; Wayne County Community Action Program: Parent Support Connection

Ontario County Jail

(Hopewell Facility) (Canandaigua Facility)

Ontario County Jail 74 Ontario Street Canandaigua, NY 14434

Description of Program: Interactive sessions between the incarcerated parents and outside caregivers and children are being planned through the Parents Reading to Children program. Instruction is coordinated with existing GED Cooperative Extension Services and parenting classes.

Major Goal(s): Families who meet eligibility requirements of Even Start will transition to the Even Start program. Other families will be transitioned to other community programs.

Main Feature(s): Even Start eligible families will receive home visits and be included in all Even Start activities.

Student Information: Enrollment is open for weekly sessions in the jail. Six women are currently enrolled. A class in the men's jail has also begun with five students per class meeting two hours per week. (The Canandaigua Facility has an inmate population of adolescent and adult males.)

Curriculum Information: Instruction is from New Readers Press program, Family Readers. Family literacy instruction occurs once a week for 1.5 hours. Parents are practicing with children's books. The GED teacher stays in the classroom with the family educator.

Cooperating Educational Program: Yates Ontario Even Start

Nassau County Correctional Facility

Nassau County Correctional Facility 101 Carman Avenue East Meadow, NY 11554

Description of Program: This program integrates parenting on an individual basis within academic (GED) classes.

Major Goal(s): The facility hopes to implement PACT time soon, upon approval for appropriate space, funding for the required additional officer, and overall support from correctional officials.

Student Information: This is a medium security facility serving unsentenced adolescent males and females. The classes, in general, have seven to 10 males, ages 16 to 20. Females are in a separate building but also number seven to 10 in each class.

Curriculum Information: Some topics are literacy, developmental skills, values, discipline, and reunification with family.

Cooperating Educational Program: East Meadow Union Free School District

Yates County Jail

Yates County Jail 227 Main Street Penn Yan, NY 14527

Description of Program: Interactive sessions between the incarcerated parents and outside caregivers and children are being planned.

Major Goal(s): The facility hopes to implement PACT time soon. PACT is currently in the negotiation stages with Yates County Jail. Families who meet eligibility requirements of Even Start will transition to the Even Start program. Other families will be transitioned to other community programs.

Main Feature(s): Even Start eligible families will receive home visits and be included in all Even Start activities.

Student Information: Enrollment is open for weekly sessions in the jail. Families that will be included as Even Start families must meet federal criteria and live in Ontario or Yates Counties.

Curriculum Information: Family literacy instruction occurs once a week for 1.5 hours. Instruction is coordinated with existing GED Cooperative Extension Services and parenting classes. Instruction is from New Readers Press program, Family Readers.

Cooperating Educational Program: Yates Ontario Even Start

Fulton County Correctional Facility

Fulton County Correctional Facility 2710 State Highway 29 Johnstown, NY 12095

Description of Program: This program emerged as a natural consequence of incarcerated parent interest in improving parenting skills. The staff of the GED program collaborated with the facility administration and Literacy Volunteers of America to experiment with models best suited to the goals of this facility.

Major Goal(s): Teaching positive parenting skills, building family literacy skills and family reading time, and creating a safe network of parent-child communications are program goals. On-site PACT would be desirable. At present, space constraints and security are concerns for implementing this. Also, a national education goal is for appropriate school readiness and parent involvement.

Main Feature(s): The program features classroom-based activities, which reflect a responsiveness to client needs. Corrections staff support the program. Parents tape themselves reading a book aloud. The tape is then sent to their children and caregiver.

Student Information: This is a maximum security county facility serving sentenced and unsentenced adolescent and adult males and females. The targeted population includes male and female parents regardless of age. At present, 14 adults and 27 children are served. Seven students are enrolled per class. Students are recruited via transitional sign-up sheets and upon advisement on a personal or individual basis.

Curriculum Information: Instruction includes topics such as normal growth and development of babies to teens, the importance of the father in his child's life, healthy eating for the whole family, the importance of play, family reading and children's books, communicating with children, and understanding discipline.

Parents select a book, record it for their children, and develop communications and dialogue around the PACT activity.

Activity takes place in two-week cycles, two hours per day. There are five instructional cycles per year. The design of the program incorporates stand-alone groups, alternating all males or all females.

The program is integrated with other adult education programs including GED, job training, Action for Personal Choice, stress management, improvement in reading, journal keeping (art/poetry), conflict resolution, relationships, violence, clean daily living, and substance abuse. This program also has connections to the NYSED Learning Standards & Adult Education Resource Guide and Learning Standards with regard to English Language Arts.

Other Information: The program staffing structure within the facility includes the corrections officers (who screen lists and get students to the classes), counselors, and education coordinators. Staff is frequently used as guest speakers. Civilian teachers serve as classroom instructors. Guest speakers from the outside are often utilized.

Cooperating Educational Programs: Literacy Volunteers of America, HFM BOCES

Onondaga County Department of Correction

Onondaga County Department of Correction PO Box 143 Jamesville, NY 13078

Description of Program: This program includes an extensive Family Education/PACT program that has a fully instituted classroom instruction and intergenerational component. A Barbara Bush Family Literacy grant has helped to support financial, human resource, and space-related needs. Formal and informal collaboration has marked all phases of this program and has contributed to its positive track record.

Major Goal(s): Teaching parents to believe that they are their children's first and most important teachers is integral to this program. Incarcerated parents are encouraged to become familiar with children's literature and learn positive parenting strategies to maintain a relationship with their children. National education goals include school readiness, parental participation, and adult literacy.

Main Feature(s): The PACT component on-site at the correctional facility is a highlight of the program enabling physical interaction between parent and child. A link is established between the Family Education program and the child's caregiver including awareness and implications of transition, Even Start, and Early Head Start initiatives.

Student Information: This is a minimum security facility serving sentenced adolescent and adult males and females aged 16 - 20. The targeted population for this program is adult males and females. Children aged 2 - 5 are served. Between 10 and 12 students are enrolled in each class.

Pre-set criteria for entry to the program and a recruitment process is successfully maintained via students, a brochure, correction counselors, word of mouth, caregivers, and phone referrals by BOCES staff.

Curriculum Information: The curriculum includes parent-child communications, reading and playing, child development, physical activities, and age-appropriateness. The topics most important to parents include activities with the children, discipline, and the importance of play. The curriculum is based on NYS Learning Standards, NYS Career, Family and Life Skills. *Discipline is Not a Dirty Word* and Family Development Credential Program are utilized.

Two PACT sessions (one hour each) and seven classes (two hours each) comprise the 4 – 6 instructional cycles per year. The design of the program incorporates stand-alone coed groups with PACT time and a home-visiting component.

Family educator home visit activities are intensive. The teachers and staff find the facility support and the program, itself, to be invaluable in assisting families to stay connected.

Other Information: This facility makes extensive use of libraries. Based on their experience, program leaders suggest that facilities establish an on-site librarian or ask a local librarian to come to class. Librarians can assist with many aspects of the program such as obtaining children's books, working with small groups of students to make audio tapes, helping students learn to use computer software to create greeting cards, and describing library services for student use upon release.

Cooperating Educational Programs: OCM BOCES

Albany County Correctional Facility

Albany County Correctional Facility 840 Albany Shaker Road Albany, NY 12211

Description of Program: This program emerged as a natural consequence of the collaborative relationship between the professional staff at the Albany County Jail, the professional staff of the Albany Adult Learning Center, and a staff development program titled, "New York Parents' Initiative." The collaborative, innovative culture of these agencies produced a two-part Family Education/PACT program for incarcerated parents.

On the basis of that program experience, the Albany Adult Learning Center developed a staff development and training program to meet the unique challenges and opportunities of conducting effective Family Education/PACT programs for incarcerated parents and their children.

Major Goal(s): An important goal is to motivate parents to become active partners in their children's education in the home, school, and community. The program seeks to build parenting skills, encourage family literacy skills, and create a safe setting for parents to apply and practice concepts developed in the classroom.

Main Feature(s): Parents attend classes on a volunteer basis, then apply their new knowledge in a positive environment with their children. Two home visits are scheduled. The Family Literacy/PACT programs also provide transitional support services for parents exiting the jail. Follow-up support in formal educational and vocational programs is offered through the Albany Adult Learning Center.

Student Information: This is a medium security facility serving sentenced and unsentenced adolescent and adult males and females. On average, there are about 18 male and female students in each class. Children participants range in age from two years through five years of age. In the past six years, over 500 students have completed the program, and over 30 PACT sessions have occurred.

Curriculum Information: Eight instructional sessions are held each year. Classes meet for 2.5 hours once a week for six weeks. The design of the program incorporates standalone, coed groups with PACT time and a home-visiting component. The curriculum modules are independent and linked to meet continuity needs for participants who attend more than one session. These are also effective for those parents who are not in the institution for the entire program. The content includes lessons in self-esteem, caring and sharing, communicating, enjoying music together, selecting developmentally appropriate toys, and using children's literature.

Other Information: The inmate services director and the counselors recruit the students for the program. The students then encourage the caregivers to participate. The caregivers are then, in turn, interviewed by the instructor. Students are recruited formally and informally via communications in the facility, outreach by counselors, and peer encouragement. The facility counselor screens prospective participants.

Cooperating Educational Programs: Albany Adult Learning Center Bedford Hills Correctional Facility

Bedford Hills Correctional Facility 247 Harris Road Bedford Hills, NY 10507

Description of Program: The program is integrated with GED and bilingual GED programs to serve between 10 and 15 nursery mothers. This is a maximum security

Major Goal(s): Helping participants become comfortable with the care and education of their children while improving their own levels of education and parenting skills are major goals.

Main Feature(s): A holistic educational approach is utilized to encompass a wide range of needs among participants.

Student Information: Ten to 15 women with nursery-aged children are the participants.

Curriculum Information: Integrated with pre-GED, ABE, and LEAP programs, the foci of study are multi-faceted. The program is a full-year cycle, which meets five days each week for five hours per day.

Other Information: Six inmate instructors are on staff. One civilian is the program coordinator.

Cooperating Educational Program: The Children's Center

Syracuse, Onondaga County Justice Center

Syracuse, Onondaga County Justice Center 555 South State Street Syracuse, NY 13202

Description of Program: The Onondaga County Justice Center in Syracuse is a maximum security facility. The administrative and sheriffs staff work collaboratively with the education service providers to ensure that the special needs and characteristics of the setting are addressed in ways that match the facility's standards for security.

As a result of careful collaborative and cooperative planning, these two organizations join forces to create a fully functioning on-site Family Education/PACT program that is providing the foundation for more good work to develop. The sound, cooperative relationship between sheriff's deputies and program teachers has helped support program goals within and beyond the classroom.

Major Goal(s): Building parenting and family literacy skills are an important focus of this program. Creating a safe environment for parents to apply concepts and practices developed in classroom settings is an essential component.

Main Feature(s): Primary caregivers are integrated in parent-child programs reinforcing a strong multigenerational unity. Transportation is supported. Home visits that precede PACT sessions are encouraged, and post-PACT follow-up counseling and debriefing is based on individual parent need.

Student Information: Parents of all ages, male and female, are served. On average, there are 15 to 20 male and female students in each class. Twenty families completed the program in 1997. There have been several PACT times with approximately 50 children attending annually.

Curriculum Information: Family education/PACT is integrated into the other adult education programs at the facility including GED/ABE, Life Skills, Building Trades, Career Counseling, Job Search, and Action for Personal Choice. The content includes the importance of play, reading to children, creative activities to do with children, the age-appropriateness of toys and books, positive communication, and positive discipline.

There are four instructional cycles per year, each four to six weeks long. There are two PACT sessions for each cycle. Students meet twice a week for 1.5 hours each, and they may re-enter a class. The design of the program incorporates stand-alone, coed groups with PACT time and a home-visiting component.

Other Information: Those who have created this program have emphasized these major points: The Family Education/PACT elements of their adult education initiative have helped inmates see themselves and their peers in a new, more capable, more promising role. The deputies have observed instances of more approachability and less defensiveness from participants. The counselors have found it important to make individualized decisions regarding post-PACT follow-up sessions, given the emotionally powerful nature of these parent-child contacts.

Communications between the site staff, the primary caregivers, and the program planners are noted as time-consuming, but productive.

Cooperating Educational Program: Syracuse City School District, Dr. King Community School

Westchester County Department of Correction PO Box 10 Valhalla, NY 10595

Description of Program: The Southern Westchester BOCES Inmate Education Program provides academic, pre-vocational life skills training and support services for incarcerated youth and adults at the Westchester County Department of Correction.

Major Goal(s): The continuation of high school academics is important to this program. Along with GED preparation and testing, an emphasis is placed on the transition process involving school/work opportunities for youth and adults.

Main Feature(s): A dedicated high school program for matriculating students and basic education and literacy services for all students are highlights of the program. Transition planning with school districts, treatment services, and CBOs is offered. Post release follow-up services for incarcerated youth are available.

Student Information: Between 800-1000 incarcerated youth and approximately 1500 adults register for services annually.

Curriculum Information: Offered year round, ABE, pre-GED, ESOL, GED, high school academics, pre-vocational training, and life skills cover many levels.

Cooperating Educational Programs: Southern Westchester BOCES: Incarcerated Education Programs

Tompkins County, Tompkins Public Safety Building

Tompkins County Tompkins Public Safety Building 779 Warren Road Ithaca, NY 14850

Description of Program: This collaborative program has made effective, efficient use of staff development and training programs. As a result of the sound planning and focus of the two organizations, the working relationships between corrections officers and Family Education/PACT BOCES adult educators have been productive and cooperative.

Working around serious space constraints in this 72-bed facility, the professional staff organized a program that includes home visits, open-ended registration opportunities, and hands-on activities. These activities involve parents and children in multi-modal activities such as computer-assisted projects, traditional crafts, book selection and reading, and toy selection.

A notable strength is the fact that corrections officers have already been trained in Action for Personal Choice. This has helped the officers and BOCES instructors share a common store of knowledge and practices for building adult life skills with special focus on parenting, life-long learning, motivation, and personal development.

Major Goal(s): Building parenting skills and family literacy skills is a primary direction for the program.

Main Feature(s): Transitional home visit support is available for PACT. The small class size (no more than 8-10 participants) is conducive to learning.

Student Information: Adults and children are served. Adult participants, separated by gender, are enrolled in ABE/GED and Life Skills. Each child is provided with materials and communications constructed by parents in this program. Referral from instructors in other adult education programs such as ABE, GED, and Life Skills is one of the recruitment strategies employed. The classroom-based program teachers are from BOCES.

Curriculum Information: The classes are open-ended and enrollment is ongoing. Some of the classroom projects include making gifts out of arts and crafts, e.g., cards for families. These activities allow parents to discover hidden talent. The communications between Family Education staff and ABE/GED and Life Skills staff fosters an informal, integrative approach, which is supported by the fact that corrections officers have received related training.

There are seven instructional sessions per year. Classes meet for two hours once a week for six weeks. The design of the program incorporates two separate stand-alone groups, one all male and one all female. The PACT time has been approved, but there is no available space in the jail. Preparation is taking place to set up a PACT time upon a parent's release. In the meantime, taped recordings of parents reading books are sent home to the children.

Cooperative Educational Programs: Tompkins-Seneca-Tioga BOCES

Appendix B: Resources

Agency

Barbara Bush Foundation for Family Literacy

1112 16th St., NW #340 Washington, DC 20036 ph: (202) 955-6183 fax: (202) 955-8084 email: sooc@erols.com

http://www.barbarabushfoundation.com

National Adult Education Professional Development Consortium, Inc.

444 North Capitol Street, NW, Suite 422 Washington, DC 20001 ph: (202) 624-5250

fax: (202) 624-1497 email: dcl@naepdc.org http://www.naepdc.org

Office of Vocational Adult Education

U.S. Department of Education 4090 MES 400 Maryland Avenue, SW

Washington, DC 20202 ph: (202) 205-5451

fax: (202) 205-8748 email: ovae@inet.ed.gov

http://www.ed.gov/offices/OVAE

National Center for Family Literacy

Suite 200

325 West Main Street Louisville, KY 40202-4251

ph: (502) 584-1133 email: <u>ncfl@famlit.org</u> http://www.famlit.org

Even Start Family Literacy Program Office

U.S. Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20202-6132

ph: (202) 260-0991 fax: (202)260-7764 http://www.ed.gov

National Institute for Literacy

1775 I Street, NW; Suite 730 Washington, DC 20006-2401

ph: (202) 233-2025 fax: (202) 233-2050 http://www.nifl.gov

Hudson River Center for Program Development, Inc.

121 Mosher Road

Glenmont, NY 12077-4202

ph: (518) 432-4005 fax: (518) 427-9718

email: smithbe@hudrivctr.org
http://www.hudrivctr.org

New York State Education Department

Adult, Family & Alternative Education Team 307 Education Building Albany, NY 12234 ph: (518) 474-5808 http://www.nysed.gov/workforce/

Literacy Volunteers of America - NYS

777 Maryvale Drive Cheektowaga, NY 14225 ph: (716) 631-5282 http://lvanys.org

RMC Research Corporation

1000 Market Street Portsmouth, NH 03801 ph: (800) 258-0802 http://www.rmcres.com

Electronic

http://www.evenstart.org for research information on family literacy

http://www.iamyourchild.org for information on early childhood development

http://www.ed.gov/Family/RSRforFamily for activities and ideas to help young children learn about language

Print

Adalist-Estrin, A. (1994). *Putting Families First: America's Family Support Movement and the Challenge of Change.* In S.L. Kagan and B. Weissbourd (Eds.). *Family Support in a Changing Context.* San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, Inc.

Barry, E. (1985). Children of Prisoners: *Punishing the Innocent*. Youth Law News. 12-13 Bartol, C.R. (1991). *Criminal Behavior: A Psychosocial Approach*. Englewood Cliffs, NH: Prentice-Hall.

Bloom, B. & Steinhart, D. (1993). Why Punish the Children? A Reappraisal of the Children of Incarcerated Mothers in America. San Francisco, CA: National Council on Crime and Delinquency.

Brizius, Jack A. and Foster, Susan A. (1993) *Generation to Generation: Realizing the Promise of Family Literacy*. Michigan: High/Scope Press.

Center for Children of Incarcerated Parents. (1992). *Report Number 6: Children of Offenders.* Pasadena, CA: Pacific Oaks College.

Dean, Christiann. (1998) Cornell Empowering Families Project. *Empowerment Skills for Family Workers: A Worker Handbook*. (Ithaca, NY: Author).

Fishman, L. (1990). *Women at the Wall: A study of Prisoners Wives Doing Time on the Outside.* Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

Furstenberg, F.F.J. (1993). Young Fathers in the Inner City: The Sources of Parental Involvement. Center for Advanced Study in the Behavioral Sciences.

Hairston, C.F. (1991). Mothers in Jail: Parent-Child Separation and Jail Visitation. Affilia, 6 (2).

Hudson River Center for Program Development, Inc. (1998). *Adult Education Resource Guide and Learning Standards*. Glenmont, NY: Author. For on-line access, go to www.nyadulted.org. To download in pdf format, go to www.hudrivctr.org

Hudson River Center for Program Development, Inc. (1996). From Incarceration to Productive Lifestyle: A Staff Development Package from New York State's Incarcerated Education Program. Glenmont, NY: Author. Available at www.hudrivctr.org

Hudson River Center for Program Development, Inc. (1996). *Social Marketing: A "How To" Approach*. Glenmont, NY: Author. Available at www.hudrivctr.org

Hudson River Center for Program Development, Inc. (1996). *Work-based Learning: A Resource Guide for Change*. Glenmont, NY: Author. Available at www.hudrivctr.org

Humadi Genisio, Margaret. (1996) "Breaking barriers with books: A fathers' book-sharing program from prison." *Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy.* 40 (2)

Johnston, D. and Gael, K. (1994). Children of Incarcerated Parents. Boston, MA: Lexington Books.

Lanier, C.S. and Fisher, G. (1990). "A Prisoners' Parenting Centre (PPC): A promising resource strategy for incarcerated fathers." *Journal of Correctional Education*. 41 (4).

National Center for Family Literacy. (1996). The Power of Family Literacy. Louisville, KY: Author.

The New York State Interagency Assessment Work Group. A Guide for Developing High Quality, Comprehensive Assessment. Albany, NY: New York State Education Department.

Parke, M. (March 18, 1999). National Institute for Literacy State Policy Update. *Strengthening Family Literacy: How States Can Increase Funding and Improve Quality*. Washington, D.C.: National Institute for Literacy.

Roe, R. L., et. al. (Spring 1995). "Voices Focus: The D.C. Family Literacy Project" in *Georgetown Journal on Fighting Poverty*, Vol. II, Number 2.

Shaw, R. (1992). Prisoners' children: What are the issues? London: Rutledge.

Stiggins, R.J. (1994). Learner-centered Classroom Assessment. Columbus, OH: Macmillan.

Selected bibliography on family and corrections originally compiled by the Center for Family Resources with additions made by Hudson River Center for Program Development, Inc.

APPENDIX C: Staff Development Consortia

Capital District Director: Tanya Wilkins	SUNY Albany 1400 Washington Ave. Education Room 337 Albany, NY 12222	ph: (518) 442-5369 fx: (518) 442-5392 email: tycdck@aol.com
Central NY Director: Georges Marceau	Central NY Staff Development Cons. 6075 E. Molloy Road, Rodax Bldg. 8 Syracuse, NY 13211	ph: (315) 437-4253 fx: (315) 433-1530 email: cnysdc@aol.com
Finger Lakes Director Kathy Heffron	Finger Lakes Professional Dev. Cons. Monroe #1 BOCES 41 O'Connor Road Fairport, NY 14450	ph: (716) 383-6491 fx: (716) 383-6411
Hudson Valley Director: Kate Hymes	Hudson Valley/Catskill Partnership Sullivan County BOCES 6 Wierk Avenue Liberty, NY 12754	ph: (914) 292-0082 fx: (914) 292-8694 email: khvcp@aol.com
Long Island Director: Martin G. Murphy	LI Staff Development Consortium 75 East Walnut Street Long Beach, NY 11561	ph: (516) 897-2268 fx: (516) 670-0439 email: longislsdc@aol.com
Mohawk Valley Director: Rosemary Matt	Madison-Oneida BOCES ACCESS Center 508 Second Street Utica, NY 13501	ph: (315) 738-7310 fx: (315) 738-7218 email: rmatt@madison-utica.moric.org
New York City Director: Marguerite Lukes	NYC Professional Development Cons. 84 William Street, 14 th Floor New York, NY 10038	ph: (212) 803-3322 fx: (212) 785-3685 email: nycpdc@lacnyc.org
North Country Director: Debra Parent	North Country Adult Education Cons. North Country Community College PO Box 89, 20 Winona Avenue Saranac Lake, NY 12983	ph: (518) 891-6038 fx: (518) 891-6078 email: ncaeccd@aol.com
Southern Tier Director: June White	Afton Central School 18 Sand Street Afton, NY 13730	ph: (607) 639-2811 fx: (607) 639-2929 email: junew3963@aol.com
Western NY Director: Ann Marie Przybyl	Western NY Professional Dev. Cons. 777 Maryvale Drive, Room 135 Cheektowaga, NY 14225	ph: (716) 631-1236 fx: (716) 631-0657 email: amprzybyl@aol.com

Appendix D: Sample Forms

The following pages provide a sample of various forms¹ that are commonly used in currently operating incarcerated education programs.

Sample flyer - to explain the purpose of the family literacy program

Sample parenting pre-assessment form - to assess the participants' exposure to books and literacy, their parenting techniques, and personal and familial goals

Sample acceptance letter to participant - to confirm participation in the incarceration education program as well as expectations for attendance

Sample notification form to parent or guardian - to confirm participation of outside caregiver of child and to arrange meeting times

Sample letter to parent or guardian - to inform outside caregiver of procedure for visiting facility with child

Sample weekly update form - to help monitor the incarcerated education program

Please note that program administrators may find it necessary to custom design forms that accommodate their unique circumstances. In such cases, it may be helpful to contact like facilities for ideas and suggestions.

¹These forms are based on forms originally presented in *A Family Literacy Model*, developed by A. Harnden and J. Koren (Syracuse City School District/NETWork, Dr. King Community School) and A. Zucker and M. Scripa (Onondaga-Cortland-Madison BOCES).

Sample Flyer

This is an example of a flyer explaining the purpose of the family literacy program.

FAMILY EDUCATION

A six week program in which you will learn about:

- Tips to make parenting easier and more fun
- Strategies for using children's books with your child
 - · Activities and games to do with your family
 - Ways to deal more effectively with your child
 - · How to praise and encourage your child

There will be an opportunity for you to practice what you learned in class and play with your child. Your child and the child's parent/guardian will meet with you two times on the third and the sixth Friday of the program from 9:30 – 10:30.

Your teacher will contact your child's parent/guardian and discuss the same topics you are learning in class.

Your Family Education class will meet on Fridays from 12:30 – 2:30.

Sample Parenting Pre-Assessment Form

This form can be used to assess the participants' exposure to books and literacy, their parenting techniques, and what personal and family goals the participants expect to gain in the program.

PARENTING PRE-ASSESSMENT

Name			
Please answer the following questions. Thi understand you and your family.	s information will help your teachers better		
1. What are the names and ages of your ch	nildren?		
Name(s)	Age(s)		
2. What do you like doing with your childr	ren?		
3. What do you say to your children to pra	ise or encourage them?		
4. Do you have a library card?			
. Did your parents read to you as a child?			
6. What is your favorite children's book?			
7. Do you read to your child? Yes	No		
8. What would you like to learn in the Fan	nily Education Class?		
9. When your child misbehaves, throws a do?	tantrum, or doesn't listen to you, what do you		
10. What makes your job as a parent difficu			

Sample Acceptance Letter to Participant

It is important to confirm participation in the program, as well as expectations for attendance.

January 10, 1997

Dear Student,

You have been selected for the Family Education program. It starts on Friday, January 17 at 12:30 – 2:30 in the school, room 117. In this program you will learn:

- · tips to make parenting easier and more fun
- strategies for using children's books
- activities and games to do with your family
- · ways to deal more effectively with your child
- how to praise and encourage your child

You will receive a certificate for this program, but you must attend every class.

Looking forward to seeing you in class on Friday, January 17.

Sincerely,

(teacher name)

Sample Notification to Parent or Guardian

FAMILY EDUCATION
Dear,
As you know, your child's parent has agreed to participate in the Family Education Program at the (agency).
We look forward to your participation in the Family Education Program at the (agency) in coordination with the (agency). Without your help, this program cannot be successful.
I am planning to meet with you on
to discuss parenting and family literacy topics. If this is not a good time for you, or if you have any questions regarding the program, please call me at (phone number).
The other part of the program is the interactive literacy activity with parent and child. This is when you will come to the (agency) with the preschool child who will be able to see his/her parent. The three of you will be provided with materials to do activities with the child. Please reserve the following dates from (time) to (time)
Thank you for your anticipated cooperation and support of our program.
Sincerely,
(name) (title) (agency)

Sample Letter to Parent or Guardian

FAMILY EDUCATION PROGRAM

Thank you for participating in the Family Education Program at (agency). We look forward to seeing you and your preschool child on (day), (date) at the (agency), (address)				
Please arrive at (time). This is necessary in order to process you and your child into th facility.				
We will need a valid photo ID for adult participants				
Child's birth certificate				
Without these identifications, you cannot be admitted.				
If you are not able to keep this appointment, please let me know. I will be in my office weekdays from (time) to (time). I can be reached at (phone number). Sincerely,				
(name) (title) (agency)				

Sample Weekly Update Form

Incarcerated Family Literacy Project Weekly Update

Facility:		Date:	
Person(s) reporting:			
The following informat	ion covers the week o	of:	
Number of parents cur	rently enrolled: Mal	es	Females
What was the highligh	t of the week?		
What obstacles did you	ı encounter?		
How did you attempt t	o address them?		
What kind of further a	ssistance would be h	elpful?	
	Applica	tion Phase	
Date of the session	Hov	v long was the s	ession?
			ir ages? (Check all that apply
Infants	1 to 2 years	old	2 to 3 years old
3 to 5 years old	5 to 7 years	s old	7 to 10 years old
older than 10 year	s old		
Who were the adults r	esponsible for bringin	g the children to	o the facility? (Check all that
Mother	Grandparent	Aunt	Social Worker
Stepparent	Uncle	Other	
Did you meet with the	caregivers?		
Before the "Application	n Phase" After th	ne "Application F	hase" At home
On site at the facility_	Not at all		

On the back of this form, describe significant events that took place in the "Application Phase."

APPENDIX E: Learning Standards



The Arts

Standard 1: Creating, Performing, and Participating in the Arts

Students will actively engage in the processes that constitute creation and performance in the arts (dance, music, theater, and visual arts) and participate in various roles in the arts.

Standard 2: Knowing and Using Arts Materials and Resources

Students will be knowledgeable about and make use of the materials and resources available for participation in the arts in various roles.

Standard 3: Responding To and Analyzing Works of Art

Students will respond critically to a variety of works in the arts, connecting the individual work to other works and to other aspects of human endeavor and thought.

Standard 4: Understanding Cultural Dimensions and Contributions of the ArtsStudents will develop an understanding of the personal and cultural forces that shape artistic communication and how the arts, in turn, shape the diverse cultures of past and present society.



Career Development and Occupational Studies

Standard 1: Career Development

Students will be knowledgeable about the world of work, explore career options, and relate personal skills, aptitudes, and abilities to future decisions.

Standard 2: Integrated Learning

Students will demonstrate how academic knowledge and skills are applied in the work-place and other settings.

Standard 3a: Universal Foundation Skills

Students will demonstrate mastery of the foundation skills and competencies essential for success in the workplace.

Standard 3b: Career Majors

Students who choose a career major will acquire the career-specific technical knowledge/skills necessary to progress toward gainful employment, career advancement, and success in postsecondary programs.



Languages Other Than English

Standard 1: Communication Skills

Students will be able to use a language other than English for communication.

Standard 2: Cultural Understanding

Students will develop cross-cultural skills and understanding.



Health Education, Physical Education, and Family and Consumer Sciences

Standard 1: Personal Health and Fitness

Students will have the necessary knowledge and skills to establish and maintain physical fitness, participate in physical activity, and maintain personal health.

Standard 2: A Safe and Healthy Environment

Students will acquire the knowledge and ability necessary to create and maintain a safe and healthy environment.

Standard 3: Resource Management

Students will understand and be able to manage their personal and community resources.



Mathematics, Science, and Technology

Standard 1: Analysis, Inquiry, and Design

Students will use mathematical analysis, scientific inquiry, and engineering design, as appropriate, to pose questions, seek answers, and develop solutions.

Standard 2: Information Systems

Students will access, generate, process, and transfer information using appropriate technologies.

Standard 3: Mathematics

Students will understand mathematics and become mathematically confident by communicating and reasoning mathematically, by applying mathematics in real-world settings, and by solving problems through the integrated study of number systems, geometry, algebra, data analysis, probability, and trigonometry.

Standard 4: Science

Students will understand and apply scientific concepts, principles, and theories pertaining to the physical setting and living environment and recognize the historical development of ideas in science.

Standard 5: Technology

Students will apply technological knowledge and skills to design, construct, use, and evaluate products and systems to satisfy human and environmental needs.

Standard 6: Interconnectedness: Common Themes

Students will understand the relationships and common themes that connect mathematics, science, and technology and apply the themes to these and other areas of learning.

Standard 7: Interdisciplinary Problem Solving

Students will apply the knowledge and thinking skills of mathematics, science, and technology to address real-life problems and make informed decisions.



English Language Arts

Standard 1: Language for Information and Understanding

Students will listen, speak, read, and write for information and understanding. As listeners and readers, students will:

- · collect data, facts, and ideas;
- · discover relationships, concepts, and generalizations; and
- use knowledge generated from oral, written, and electronically produced texts.

As speakers and writers, they will use oral and written language that follows the accepted conventions of the English language to acquire, interpret, apply, and transmit information.

Standard 2: Language for Literacy Response and Expression

Students will:

- read and listen to oral, written, and electronically produced texts and performances from American and world literature;
- relate texts and performances to their own lives; and
- develop an understanding of the diverse social, historical, and cultural dimensions the texts and performances represent.

As speakers and writers, students will use oral and written language that follows the accepted conventions of the English language for self-expression and artistic creation.

Standard 3: Language for Critical Analysis and Evaluation

Students will listen, speak, read, and write for critical analysis and evaluation. As listeners and readers, students will analyze experiences, ideas, information, and issues represented by others using a variety of established criteria. As speakers and writers, they will use oral and written language that follows the accepted conventions of the English language to present, from a variety of perspectives, their opinions, and judgments on experiences, ideas, information, and issues.

Students will listen, speak, read, and write for social interaction. Students will use oral and written language that follows the accepted conventions of the English language for effective social communication with a wide variety of people. As readers and listeners, they will use the social communication of others to enrich their understanding of people and their views.



Social Studies

Standard 1: History of the United States and New York

Students will use a variety of intellectual skills to demonstrate their understanding of major ideas, eras, themes, developments, and turning points in the history of the United States and New York.

Standard 2: World History

Students will use a variety of intellectual skills to demonstrate their understanding of major ideas, eras, themes, developments, and turning points in world history and examine the broad sweep of history from a variety of perspectives.

Standard 3: Geography

Students will use a variety of intellectual skills to demonstrate their understanding of the geography of the interdependent world in which we live — local, national, and global — including the distribution of people, places, and environments over the Earth's surface.

Standard 4: Economics

Students will use a variety of intellectual skills to demonstrate their understanding of how the United States and other societies develop economic systems and associated institutions to allocate scarce resources, how major decision-making units function in the United States and other national economies, and how an economy solves the scarcity problem through market and non-market mechanisms.

Student 5: Civics, Citizenship, and Government

Students will use a variety of intellectual skills to demonstrate their understanding of the necessity for establishing governments; the governmental system of the United States and other nations; the United States Constitution; the basic civic values of American constitutional democracy; and the roles, rights, and responsibilities of citizenship, including avenues of participation.

APPENDIX F: Acronyms Glossary

ABE Adult Basic Education

Adult Centers for Comprehensive Education and Support Services **ACCESS**

Administration on Children and Families **ACF ACYF** Administration on Children, Youth and Families

APC Action for Personal Choice

BOCES Board of Cooperative Educational Services

Community Based Organization CBO

DHHS Department of Health and Human Services

Education for Gainful Employment EDGE

English Language Arts ELA

Employment Preparation Education EPE

ESOL English for Speakers of Other Languages

Family and Child Education **FACE**

General Educational Development GED

HSE High School Equivalency

IDSM Instructional Delivery System Model Literacy Education and Parenting LEAP NALS National Adult Literacy Survey National Center for Family Literacy NCFL

NYS New York State

New York State Education Department NYSED

OCM Onondaga-Cortland-Madison **PACT** Parent And Child Together Reading is Fundamental **RIF SAT** Scholastic Aptitude Test **SDC** Staff Development Consortia **SED State Education Department TABE Tests of Adult Basic Education**

WIA Workforce Investment Act

WIFFM What's In It For Me